DOCUMENT RESUME

ED 051 436 An 000 708

TITLE Farly Childhood Development: Alternatives for

Program Implementation in the States. A Report of the Education Commission of the States Task Force on

Early Childhood Education.

INSTITUTION Education Commission of the States, Denver, Colo.

PH3 DATE Jun 71 NOTE 103p.

AVAILABLE FROM Education Commission of the States, 300 Lincoln

Tower, 1860 Lincoln Street, Denver, Colorado 80203

(\$1.00)

EDRS PRICE EDRS Price MF-50.65 HC-\$6.58

Administrative Organization, Certification,

Developmental Programs, *Early Childhood Education, Educational Facilities, Educational Finance, *Educational Innovation, Educational Objectives, Federal Government, Kindergarten, *Preschool Programs, Public Education, *State Action, State

Aid, *State Programs, Training

ABSTRACT

DESCRIPTORS

The purpose of this report is to provide state-level policy makers with basic data about important alternatives to be considered as a state initiates or expands its early childhood programs. The report points out that several effective approaches could be implemented at substantially less cost than conventional classroom kindergartens and preschools. The major goals of statewide programs for children under 6 years of age should be to: (a) strengthen the family role and involve parents in the education of their children; (b) provide for the health, safety, and psychological needs of young children; and (c) provide remedial health and education programs for all preschool children in need of special services. An analysis of federal priorities and programs indicates that states will be required to carry the major burden of early childhood programs and coordinate them with the many engoing federal programs. Topics discussed are: state organizational structure; alternative approaches; objectives; training and certifying personnel; physical facilities; methods of providing state financial support; and implementation. Appendixes present a discussion of educational goals; a summary of pending federal legislation; and information on state funding and personnel programs in early childhood development. Also included are addresses of people to contact for additional information on individual states. (Author/NH)



U. S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH CONCOATION A WELFARE OF ME WINDOW

THIS COCUMENT HAS CLAN PERBOACCED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED FROM THE LESSON OR OBJECTATION OF A PARTIE OF VIEW OR DEMINORS STATE FOR SELECTION OF POLICY OF PERBOARD A REPRESENT OFFICE OF EDUCATION POSITION OR POLICY.

Early Childhood Development

Alternatives for Program Implementation in the States



A report of the Education Commission of the States

June 1971



task force members

Governor Calvin Rampton, Utah Chairman

Milton Akers, Executive Director National Association for the Education of Young Children

Dr. Rebecca Baker Vice President, Nursery School Association for Childhood Education International

Robert W. Blanchard Superintendent of Schools Portland, Oregon

Mrs. Nikki Blankenship Early Childhood Bilingua! Program 5 outhwest Educational Development Laborators, Austin, Texas

Howard Bray, Deputy Director The Appalachian Regional Commission

Preston Bruce, Director Four-C Division Office of Child Development, H.E.W.

Benjamin Carmichael, Director Appalachian Educational Laboratory Charleston, West Virginia

Mrs. Constance Cook Member, New York State Assembly

Mrs. Barbara Finberg, Executive Associate Carnegie Corporation of New York

Mrs. March K. Fong California State Representative

D. Robert Graham Horida State Senator

Dr. Dorothy Gregg Assistant to Director of Public Relations U. S. Steel, New York City

Orval Hansen, Idaho U. S. House of Representatives

Walter Hodges, Director Southwest Center for Farly Childhood Personnel Development State College of Arkansas, Conway

Robert E. McNair Governor of South Carolina, 1965-71

Allison D. McNay School and College Relations Standard Oil Company, San Francisco Mrs. Ray E. Miller
Fargo, North Dakota Board of Education

John H. Niemeyer, President Bank Street College, New York

Mrs. Rechael Noel Deriver, Colorado Board of Education

John Sessions, Assistant Director AFL-CIO Education Department Washington, D. C.

Jule Sugarman, Administrator Human Resources Administration New York City

Daniel B. Taylor Superintendent of Public Instruction West Virginia

Mrs. Anne G. White Chief, Bureau of Child Development Department of Health and Social Services Delaware

Burton White Harvard Graduate School of Education

Consult. a

Gleii Nimnicht Far West Laboratory for Educational Research and Development Berkeley, California

Other Otal

Mrs. Elizabeth Lewis Santa Ana College, California

William Rapp, Vice President Federation of Rocky Mountain States

Darrell Renstrom, Legislative Consultant National Education Association

I bout a Commission of the States

Governor Russell Peterson Delaware, ECS Chairman, 1970-71

Wendell H. Pierce Executive Director

Ja nrs A. Hazlett, Director Elementary-Secondary Education

Mrs. Sally V. Allen Project Coordinator



Early Childhood Development

Alternatives for Program Implementation in the States

A report of The Education Commission of the States Task Force on Early Childhood Education June 1971

"PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE THIS COPYRIGHTED MATERIAL HAS BEEN GRANTED

Commentations OPERATING
TO EGIC ATD ORGANIZATIONS OPERATING
UNDER AGREGATERS WITH THE WS. OFFICE OF
EQUICATION. FURTHER REPRODUCTION OUTSIDE
THE ERIC SYSTEM REQUIRES PERMISSION OF
THE COPTRIGHT DWALE."

Additional copies of this report may be obtained for \$1.00 from the Education Commission of the States, 300 Lincoln Tower, 1860 Lincoln Street, Denver, Colorado 83203.

© 1971 Education Commission of the States



contents

Foreword3
Summary of Recommendations and Alternatives 5
The Need for State-Supported Early Childhood Programs 12
Objectives of a Public Early Childhood Program 16
The Influence of the Federal Government22
Organizational Structure at the State Level26
Alternative State Program Approaches33
Priorities and Methods for Implementation 51
Training and Certifying Quality Personnel 55
Providing Adequate Physical Facilities60
Funding State Early Childhood Programs62
Implementation 71
Appendix A: Educational Programs, Goals for Children 74
Appendix B: Summary of Proposed Federal Legislation 79
Appendix G: Summary of State Programs 81

The photographs on the cover and in this report were taken by Mrs. Dops Segret, a feet to e-photographer living in Detser whose special interest is in working with Head Stati children.



foreword

The Education Commission of the States has expressed continuing concern about early childhood education in the conviction that the states must accord higher priority to the formative years before first grade. In the face of inadequate resources and conflicting pressures for funds, Lowever, few states have been able or willing to allocate significant emphasis to the preprimary years. And there has been little information available to indicate the variety of possible approaches and their relative costs to interested law makers, educators and citizens.

This report is intended to provide state-level policy makers with basic data about the most important alternatives which should be considered as a state initiates or expands its programs for very young children. It points out that several effective approaches could be implemented at substantially less cost than conventional classroom kindergartens and preschools. It is the work of a 24-member task force on early childhood education, appointed in the fall of 1970 and funded with a grant from the Carnegie Corporation of New York. An initial background paper was drafted by Dr. Glen Nimnicht of the Far West Laboratory for Educational Research and Development. It was further developed by Mrs. Sally V. Allen, ECS project coordinator, in light of task force meetings in December 1970 and February 1971. This report, which was approved by the ECS steering committee in April 1971, 1—the result. Dr. Nimnicht served as consultant to the task force throughout its deliberations.

Included here also are several tables which indicate ongoing state efforts in kindergarten and prekindergarten programs. The



information has been compiled on the basis of questionnaires distributed to the states.

The task force, whose members include political and educational leaders concerned about early childhood development, represents varied backgrounds and outlooks from across the country. Our discussions have, to say the least, been lively. It was never assumed that such a diverse group could agree unanimously on the wide range of issues covered in this report. But there is strong agreement among the task force members that the report presents the most effective and feasible ways that states might initiate and develop programs for children younger than six. It is hoped that the Education Commission of the States will be able to assist states in their effort to implement the report.

Special meration should be made of the contributions of James Hazlett, ECS director of elementary and secondary education, who has provided general direction of the ECS early childhood program; Russell Vlaanderen, ECS director of research who assisted in the research aspects of the project; and Adrienne Sack who, with devotion and good humor, typed innumerable versions of this report.

Calvin L. Rampton, Governor of Utah Chairman, ECS Early Childhood Equation Task Force

The Education Commission of the States is a non-profit organization formed by interstate compact in 1966. Fortistive states and territories are now members. Its goal is to firther a working relationship among state generate, legislaties and educators for the impositioned education. This report is an outcome of one of many Commission undertakings at all levels of education. The Commission offices are located at 300 Lincoln Tower, 1860 Lincoln Street, Denier, Colorado 80203.



summary of recommendations and alternatives

The states should provide support for developmental programs for children younger than six, the standard first grade entry age. The major thrust of such programs should be (a) strengthening the role of the family as the first and most fundamental influence on child development; (b) the early detection of serious health and education handicaps; and (c) the provision of remedial health and education programs for all preschool children who need special services.

A statewide, publicly supported early education effort should be based on the following minimum objectives:

- 1. To develop ways to reach the families of young children and to strengthen their capacity for parenting.
- 2. To involve parents in the formal education of their children directly and through the decision-making process.
- 3. To provide for the health, safety and psychological needs of young children.
- 4. To start the educational process that will contribute to the development of individuals who will be able to solve a variety of problems and are willing to try to solve them.
- To lay a foundation for improvements that should take place in the early years of schooling to make it more responsive to the needs of children.

An analysis of federal priorities and programs indicates that it will be up to the states to carry the major burden of early childhood programs and to coordinate their efforts with the many ongoing federally supported programs. Indications are that in the near future, federal legislation will require a coordinated state planning mechanism. Coordination of the more than 300 federal programs for young children, administered by 18 agencies, is urgently needed.



Organizational Structure at the State Level

How early childhood programs are administered at the state level will substantially affect the impact and nature of the state effort. The primary need is for a mechanism to coordinate overlapping federal and state programs.

Whatever agency is assigned or created to assume general responsibility for the administration of state early childhood programs, it should have at least the following functions:

- To supervise all state and federal funds for early childhood programs;
- b. To analyze, make recommendations about and coordinate all state and federally funded programs for the development of early childhood personnel;
- To develop a master plan for early childhood programs, staff and funding across the state;
- d. To analyze and develop recommendations for state certification efforts related to early childhood personner;
- Eo develop a system of early diagnosis of children's needs and of parental training and involvement in their children's education;
- To make recommendations regarding state standards for private, particularly franchised, early childhood programs;
- g. To serve as an advocate and promoter of programs to meet the needs of all young children in the state and to stimulate the development of postsecondary and inservice training programs for early childhood personnel.

Alternative structures to be considered include:

- Assignment of general responsibility for early childhood programs to an existing agency already administering programs, such as the state department of education, health or social services. A division of early childhood education should be established within the department and be headed by a professional with sufficient rank and responsibility to be of influence.
- 2. The establishment of an office of child development as an independent state agency, headed by a commissioner of child development appointed by the governor, to administer all state programs for children younger than six. A special advisor.



- sory board of heads of public and private agencie commerned with early childhood would be created.
- 3. The establishment of a state child care coordinating contact in the governor's office. Members would represent parents, public agencies and private groups with an interest in children's services. The council would be responsible for state-wide planning, coordination and evaluation

Alternative State Program Approaches

The recommendations and alternatives suggested for state action are based upon four assumptions. (1) the state has a responsibility to the total population; (2) the states must develop some equitable basis for the allocation of funds; (2) a state program should take into consideration the possible participation by other agencies in the funding of programs; (4) a state will probably have to phase in the program over a number of years.

The alternatives include:

- I. States should consider a comprehensive approach including children younger than three and their parents because, after the initial expense, such a program could be operated at low cost; the ability to make early diagnoses would strengthen all other programs; and some day care services will be required for the age group in any case. Such a program would be developed through demonstration parent education enters with diagnostic services and day care programs.
- 2. States should consider programs for three—four- and fivevear-old children which provide training for them and their parents in their homes.
 - a. Several programs could be developed which provide limited training for parents to work with their own children, such as a parent, child toy lending library.
 - b. Parent-oriented television programming, building on Sesame Street or a similar series, could be used to assist parents to work with their children and maximize existing children's television programs.
 - c. Either of the two above approaches could be rendered more effective at relatively little additional cost by adding a home visit by a qualified professional teacher or aide who would work with both parents and children in the home situation.
 - d. Special television programs for children, like Sesame Street, could offer important early educational opportunities, al-



though they should not be expected to fill children's needs without supplementary efforts.

- 3. A combined approach, which provides a classroom experience for children in addition to a home visit program and uses television as an instructional aid, offers the benefits of parent involven ent in education at home but also social growth by giving children practice in sharing and working together in a group.
- 4. States should consider alternative programs for three-, lour-and five-year-olds in a classroom situation
 - a. The state might provide aid to children to attend existing private preschool and or kindergarten programs if no public programs exist.
 - b. The state might encourage the expansion of day care programs and provide support for an educational component in them, including special staff training and provisions for parental involvement.
 - c. An effective state program could be developed by expanding the existing Head Start effort to more five-, four- and threeyear-olds. Special steps should be taken to avoid administrative duplication. It might not be necessary to provide supportive health, dental and nutritional services to all youngsters.
 - d. Television programs, like Sesame Street, could be used to supplement educational efforts. One possibility is to build classroom efforts around TA',, bringing children and teachers together to view the program and then expand on it.
 - e. It is not recommended that states establish formal classroom preschool programs for all three- and four-year-olds because there is no evidence that all children need a structured group experience if they are receiving some kind of systematic training and because there are viable, less expensive alternatives.
 - f. Where states have already initiated kindergarten programs for five-year-olds, these programs should be retained but revitalized through such efforts as substantial state support; flexible certification laws; minimum instructional standards; special programs for parent involvement; and single sessions.
 - g. The states should develop methods to regulate the standards of private kindergartens, particularly those being established in the rapidly expanding franchising effort, but flexibility should be key.



Priorities a...d Methods for Implementation

It is assumed that even if a state chooses low cost parent child programs. limitations of resources and staff will necessitate the establishment of initial priorities. The following alternative priorities are suggested.

- If a state is able to predict a lack of trained personnel for kindergarten and prekindergarten programs, it might adopt as its first priority the development of postsecondary and inservice programs for professional and other positions.
- 2 A state might focus first on the development of an early diagnosis system—and personnel to administer it—which would determine the need for various alternative programs.
- 3 The state could consider establishing a limited number of model demonstration centers, but the federal government has developed a number of such centers which should fulfill the need for experimental programs.
- 4 Another approach would be to serve first the children with the greatest need, particularly those from iow-income homes, of ethnic : ad minority groups and the handicapped.
- The beginnings of a state program might be developed by state subsidization of an educational component at existing day care and industrially established center, for four- and five-year-olds.

Training and Certifying Quality Personnel

Teachers and administrators for early childhood education must evidence qualifications and training different from their counterparts working with older children. Certification procedures and teacher training programs should reflect this fact. For the effective implementation of the program alternatives outlined in this report, a new type of professional early childhood educator will be required.

To meet personnel needs for early childhood education programs, states should take some or all of the following steps:

- Es ablish credentials in early childhood education or at least provide for a strong specialization in early childhood education within the preparation of an elementary certificate.
- 2 Establish the same salary schedules, fringe benefits and tenure rights for early childhood teachers as for all other teachers.



- Encourage the development of postsecondary and inservice programs for professional and other positions, through a variety of actions.
- Develop programs particularly suited to training teaching aides, parents, siblings and other young people to assist with the wide range of program alternatives.
- 5. Organize and train volunteers as teachers' assistants.

Providing Adequate Physical Facilities

If a state determines that its needs for additional facilities for early childhood programs will be substantial, it might examine carefully and consider revision of existing legislation and regulations related to classroom space. The success of Head Start programs in non-school space suggests that — with full recognition of the complications involved — the time has come for code revision.

In all state efforts to develop facilities and regulate their standards, there must be basic recognition of the need for flexibility in creative design and adequate provision for state aid for construction where funds are needed.

Methods of Providing State Financial Support

The states must develop sound principles of financing for their early childhood programs, including provisions so that (1) early childhood education is treated as an integral part of the state s overall education program, (2) it will benefit from a steady flow of state funds, and that (3) funds can be provided on an equalization basis to insure that particularly needy districts benefit.

Cost estimates are included for the alternative program approaches outlined.

Within this framework states should consider some or all of the following techniques:

- Inclusion of early childhood programs in the state foundation formula, if the foundation program has proven to be an effective method of distributing state aid.
- Establishment of a special early childhood education fund within the state's education budget, if there is not an effective foundation program and no immediate plans for establishing one.



- Establishment of a special state fund to include all expenditure for early childhood programs (including education, health, nutrition, day care, etc.).
- 4. Provision for construction funds for early childhood facilities.
- 5. Provision to ensure maximum use of federal matching funds and adoption of the principle by the state agency administering early childhood programs that priority will be given to plans using matching funds or joint federal or other public or private funding.
- Development of a program of incentive grants to state colleges, universities, junior and community colleges for offering graduate, undergraduate and associate degree specializations in early childhood education.
- 7. Adoption of the principle that salaries for early childhood teachers should be equal to those of elementary school teachers and provision made so that whatever state support is provided for elementary teachers salaries is also provided to early childhood teachers.
- 8. Provision of parent education as an integral part of the state carly childhood and/or adult education programs.

Implementation

Included among the steps a state should devise to insure consideration and assist in implementation of the alternatives outlined in this report are (1) public examination of the issue at a prominent level of government; (2) collection of essential data; and (3) identification of an interagency committee to oversee the implementation process. A governor's conference on early childhood education might be the first step.

The key decision will be the structure to be adopte i for administration of early childhood programs. Alternative program and funding approaches will be largely determined by this decision. The Education Commission of the States stands ready to assist the states in development of model legislation, identifying consultants to assist with legislative and administrative matters and program development and to conduct concinued research on best practices across the country.



the need for state-supported early childhood programs

In the coming decade, the states will be subject to increasing and widespread pressure to provide special educational services to very young children and their parents. There has already been a large increase in the number of three- and four-year-olds enrolled in nursery schools and kindergartens. According to the U.S. Census Bureau one in ten children of these ages was enrolled in some kind of formal preschool program in 1965; in 1970 the figure was one in five. About two thirds of the increased enrollment is accounted for by federal child care programs begun since 1965.

The success of these federally funded programs, which aim primarily to enhance the early development of disadvantaged youngsters, has led other families to demand the same "head start" for their children. Although private schools are expanding and national business organizations are beginning to franchise nursery schools, tuition fees range from \$500 to \$1,000. But, perhaps three-fifths of the population have incomes high enough to prevent their children from attending Head Start and yet cannot afford private programs. They are disenchanted with the concentrated expenditure of their tax dollars on the disadvantaged, and they are demanding public preschools and kindergartens for their children.

Additional immediate pressure will come from families who want day care for their children while the mothers work. An estimated eight out of ten working mothers of preschool-age children are not now eligible for the majority of federal or state-supported programs. There are more than 11.6 million mothers with jobs today; more than four million of them have children under six. But only 640,000 licensed day care spaces are available, and more than one-third of these are privately run. By 1980, the Labor Department predicts, 5.3 million mothers with small children will be working.

And there is significant agreement that custodial care is not enough, that the first five or six years are of crucial importance to an individual's development. These are the years of most rapid intellectual growth. These are the years when the ways of thinking and behaving which will guide the mental development of the individual through the rest of his life are being formed. Most educational problems start before a child enters first grade. To deal with the cause rather than the effect, efforts should start well before the child is six.

The question is not whether the states should become involved. To a large extent they already are. Eight states (three by 1973) and Guam mandate kindergarten programs and at least 37 have adopted legislation permitting them. Thirty-eight states, American Samoa and Puerto Rico make some form of state aid available for kindergartens, and at least six provide some funding for preschool programs. But much of the recent impetus has come from the federal government—whose purpose has been to provide educational training for the children of the poer and day care services to welfare mothers who might then be able to go to school r be trained to get a job. And often state involvement has followed—a an uncoordinated array of day care programs or health provisions or locally initiated classroom efforts approved but not funded by the state. In many cases, state interest in early childhood training has simply been a recognition of attestablished situation.

But the situation is getting out of hand. Direction is needed. If the states are to determine their own priorities and program emphases, they must assume the leadership now. There needs to be a clear notion of what people can expect to accomplish in early childhood education programs. Early childhood education is not a panacea for the social alls of our society; but it certainly is a prerequisite to solving many of these problems.

Early Education as an Investment

To the extent that an educational program for young children contributes to their success as students and citizens, it will significantly reduce subsequent remedial, counseling and even penal and welfare costs. There are no definitive statistics on how much a state might save in the long term by investing in early childhood education. And there is not yet enough experience to analyze precisely the relationship of early training to prevention of later problems.

But it is clear that a relationship exists. Failure in the initial years of formal education can be closely tied to the high percentage of



drop-outs in the public schools. It costs approximately twice as much to retain a child in a mentally retarded or remedial classroom as in a regular classroom. Once in a special class, he usually remains there at least eight years. And yet, for example, over half the Spanish-surnamed and Negro children in mentally retarded classrooms in California have the ability to be in regular classrooms and have been misclassified because they lacked early training in English and the basic skills demanded by the public schools. It costs per year, on a national average, \$4,070 to detain a juvenile, \$1,898 to keep an individual in a state penitentiary, and about \$1,000 for an individual on welfare.

In fact, early childhood programs can be considered integrally related to overall state economic development. A 1967-68 financial study prepared by Moody's Investors Associates and Campus Facilities Associates for the State of South Carolina linked implementation of a state kindergarten program to the state's total manpower resources and the overall drive for economic growth. In addition to long-range development, the report estimated that the effect of preschool and kindergarten programs would be to reduce the number of first grade repeaters and result in a savings of at least \$2.5 million a year. Resultant support from the legislature and the governor led to the initiation of a kindergarten program in 1970.

Over a long period of time, there will be cost benefits in terms of reduced expenditures for special and remedial education, delinquency and crime, and an increase in the general productivity of society. But it would be a mistake to expect an immediate measurable payoff; education and other social services generally do not verk that way. It would be a disservice to sell a developmental program for young children solely on the basis of some immediate cost-benefit analysis. Expectations are bound to be disappointed because the real values have been overlooked, and the short-term payoff will not be as spectacular as hoped.

The immediate tangible pay-off of early childhood programs should be:

- Improving the inadequate day care situations to which many children in this courtry are now exposed.
- Detecting and preventing future problems for the 10 to 15 percent of children who might be physically or mentally handicapped or have learning disabilities.
- Providing help to any parent wanting to become a more effective parent.





State Support for Early Childhood Programs

A state can realize substantial political, social, educational and economic benefits if it provides early developmental programs for children younger than six- the standard first grade entry age. The major thrust of such programs should be (a) strengthening the role of the family as the first and most furdamental influence on child development; (b) the early detection of serious health and education handicaps; and (c) the provision of remedial health and education programs for all preschool children who need special services.

Recognizing the magnitude of the task, the wide variations in children's needs and the already existing demands on state resources, the task force has focused on the development of alternative approaches and organizational structures which might be implemented at different levels by states with different needs. As a minimum, states should provide some form of development program for three-, four-and five-year-olds and should—as much as possible—involve their parents in the process. There are many public and private efforts across the country which indicate the benefits to the national welfare of concern for the health of expectant mothers, of provision of an adequate diet for newborn and very young children and of education for prospective and new parents. Therefore this report looks at programs for mothers' prenat. I and postnatal care and parent education as one very important alternative for state support



objectives of a public early childhood program

In order to realize a state's general goals in developing comprehensive preprimary programs—enriching educational experiences, meeting increasing demand and reducing later remedial and other costs—the immediate program objectives must be considered and defined.

For a statewide, publicly supported effort, we recommend a set of minimum objectives which recognize the social, educational and health needs of all children:

- 1. To develop ways to reach the families of young child; en and to strengthen their capacity for parenting.
- 2. To involve parents in the formal education of their children directly and through the decision-making process.
- 3. To provide for the health, safety and psychological needs of young children.
- 4. To start the educational process that will contribute to the development of individuals who will be able to solve a variety of problems and are willing to try to solve them.
- 5. To lay a foundation for improvements that should take place in the early years of schooling to make it more responsive to the needs of children.

These objectives are discussed below.

1. To develop ways to reach the families of young children and to strengthen their capacity for parenting. There is important evidence that in the earliest years children are more influenced by family than by peers or any persons outside the family. Parents are in fact primarily—and in most cases exclusively—respon-



sible for early childhood development. Some families are now getting their children off to a good start. Some are not. The overriding aim of states should be to strengthen the family as the primary group responsible for the development and education of young children and to meet the special needs of parents.

At least from a conventional point of view, the family is strengthened when one parent (usually the father) can earn an adequate living and another parent (usually the mother) can remain in the home to provide for the welfare and development of the children. Some women need an outside stimulus to maintain a healthy mental state. That choice should be available without sacrificing the welfare of their children. The family is strengthened when it is more self-sufficient and does not have to depend upon outside agencies for service that can be provided internally and when the education the children receive outside the home respects the language, culture and life style of the home.

The priorities that follow are:

- To assist the family in providing a health—stimulating environment for the children in the home. Many parents need help to understand the process of child growth and development, how children learn and how parents can assist in the process. This is important to foster both the child's development and the parents' self-confidence.
- To supplement the efforce of the home by providing limited educational opportunities outside the home ranging from special services covering an hour or two a week to three or four hours of classroom activities a day.
- To provide adequate day care services for those families needing it. When it is necessary to provide complete day care service, it should be conducted by someone who knows, understands and respects the cultural background of the child. Many parents have no a ternative but to leave their child alone, with a babysitter or in a day care program that just manages to provide minimal custodial services. A working mother's income is often the difference between being impoverished and not being. In 1968 in the male-headed families in which the wife worked, without the woman's salary eight percent of the families would have had less than \$3,000 a year and 40 percent would have had between \$3,000 and \$7,000 a year. These women do not qualify for most of the existing federally subsidized programs because they are working. And yet as much as a third or more of their income may go for inadequate services for their children.



2. To involve parents in the formal education of their children directly and through the decision-making process. When children are young, it is easier to involve their parents in the activities and program development of the schools. There seems to be a natural tendency for parents of a preschool-age youngster to hold high aspirations for him-regardless of what may have happened to his older brothers and sisters. And early involvement of parents can help to head off later conflicts between home and the schools--particularly when racial or ethnic groups are concerned.

As many parents as possible should be encouraged to participate in the program for their children by being paid assistants or volunteers in the classroom, attending parent meetings or through an outreach program in which teachers or parent coordinators go to the homes of the parents who cannot come to the school.

Representative groups of parents should be involved in the decision-making process by serving on advisory councils similar to the Head Statt Parent Advisory Groups. If such groups are formed, their function should be clear, and their recommendations should carry real weight in the decision-making process. This becomes extremely important particularly when nimority groups or low-income parents are involved. The success of efforts such as Head Start and Follow Through to reverse the disastrous educational results of the majority of children from low income and minority groups depends to a great extent on involving the parents to help them understand what the educators are trying to accomplish and to help the educators become more responsive to the children and the parents. Unless this kind of bridging between the schools and the parents can be accomplished. there is little hope for the success of these educational programs. The schools simply cannot accomplish the task alone. And, of course, it is implied that the parents would be helping to redefine the tasks that the schools are attempting to accomplish.

3. To provide for the health, safety and psychological needs of young children. Regardless of where education takes place—in the child's home, in a day care home or in a classroom—a major objective must be the physical and mental welfare of the children. There are significant problems of providing adequate physical facilities, of determining standards and licensing to insure that children are in a safe environment that protects them from physical harm and nuttures their physical development.

In addition to these concerns, the psychological needs of the children must be taken into account. A quality program (a) should



provide the psychological services which some young children with serious problems need to become mentally healthy individuals and which are not now available; (b) should protect children from psychological damage resulting from the overexpectations of parents or teachers; and (c) should promote the development of a healthy self-concept which research indicates is essential for later success in school.

In considering the physical and psychological health of young children, it becomes particularly clear that concern for human development cannot be imposed at an arbitrary age level. It has been estimated that if the needs of expectant mothers were adequately met, the number of mentally retarded children could be reduced by as much as 50 percent. Unless an adequate diet is provided for newborn and very young children, their physical and mental development can be stunted. And for long-range health and development, prospective parents and the parents of very young children should be offered parent education programs. This training in human growth and development should start when prospective parents are still in school, although for most individuals the motivation to learn will be greater when they become expectant parents. Certainly at that time and extending over the next several years, there would be great benefits if education for parents, explaining in detail how child-en grow and develop, were available to all. This is of prime importance because the parents' understanding in large part determines the health, safety and psychological well being of the children.

4. To start the educational process that will contribute to the development of individuals who will be able to solve a variety of problems and are willing to try to solve them. There are mixed opinions on how to start very young children on an educational process that will contribute to their full development. Some educators and psychologists believe that objectives should be stated in very explicit terms (such as the child can count to ten, name nine colors, etc.) and the program should be systematically designed to accomplish them. Others stress language development, concept formation and problem-solving, but are not as concerned about the specific content. They devote considerable attention to helping children either maintain or develop a bealthy self-concept as it relates to learning and school.

Clearly no single set of objectives would satisfy the leading educators and psychologists who are in olved in developing model programs. But in many instances these differences are matters of approach and stress.

Experts recognize the importance of early intellectual development, but only as a part of early childhood education. Most authorities agree that it is important also to help young children develop social skills and a healthy self-concept. In addition they recognize the importance of individualizing the program to respond to the ability and needs of individual children.

Human beings and particularly young children vary greatly in their rate of growth and development as well as in their potential to learn. Children from different backgrounds have learned different things that are vital to them but are not necessarily the things the school values in a child. A child from a middle-class family comes the closest to having the prerequisites the school usually expects. A child from the ghetto may have learned how to care for himself all day on a city street or how to look after younger brothers and disters. The rural child may have developed capabilities appropriate to his environment. Or a child may come to school with a well-developed language, but it is Navaho or Spanish or different from the English used in school. We cannot expect these children to achieve the same objectives as those set for a child who comes to school speaking the language of the school and tutored previously in some of the things the school expects.

For a more complete discussion of educational goals, see Appendix A.

5. To lay a foundation for changes that should take place in the early years of school to make it more responsive to the needs of the chitdren. One of the objectives of education before the age of six should be to foster changes in the public schools. Rather than starting at the top—in colleges and universities—and working down in order to effect change, early childhood education offers the object unity to start with the young child and work up. To suggest that the schools should change is not an attack on the schools, their teachers or administrators. It is a recognition that any social institution should be constantly engaged in the process of self-renewal—changing its form and content to adjust to changing social needs and demands.

If a developmental program before the age of six is to have long-term positive effects, it should be carried on into the school years. One of the implications, of course, is that the educational and related objectives of the school will need to be more broadly defined to correspond with the general objectives outlined above. This will probably be a long-term objective. It would be a mistake to plan any preschool pro-



gram without taking into account the current structure, curriculum and procedures in the early grades of the elementary school and the effe ts that the developmental program before age six will have on that program.

In short, an immediate objective is to help young children succeed in the schools as they presently operate. A long-range objective is to project the kind of changes that would be desirable to make the early years of education more productive for more children.

If early childhood educational programs are going to help children be more successful in schools as they are, the programs must anticipate some of the schools' expectations. An obvious example is the development of language. Probably the best approach to language development for a Spanish-speaking child would be to continue to develop his language (Spanish) and use it in the classroom, but if English is the basic instructional language in kindergarten or the first grade, one of the objectives of the prekindergarten programs would have to be to help him understand and speak English. This should remain an objective only as long as it takes to change the approach in the early years of school.

As a long-range objective, an early childhood educational and developmental program should lay the foundation for the following kinds of changes in the public schools:

- A restatement of the basic purpose of public education. Instead of blending divergent groups into a single homogeneous mass, the aim should be to develop different cultures and life styles, enhancing their values and uniqueness and, in the process, enhancing the whole society. Schools probably will not be successful with many children from minority groups until they do reflect these differences. Minority groups have always resisted the efforts of the majority group to assimilate them. A diversity of views and approaches probably will enrich our society.
- The public schools need to learn to respond to different children and their parents on an individual basis. The soundest process of education starts with the known and proceeds to teach the unknown. The process should start with the chi'd's language, his culture and his background and build on that base.
- The public schools need a broader definition of objectives. Intellectual objectives need to be expanded to include more emphasis on problem-solving, and general objectives need to be expanded beyond intellectual development to include the physical and mental health of children.



the influence of the federal government

The federal government has played a key role in focusing attention on the significance of early childhood development in this country. Its importance and effectiveness have been demonstrated through federally supported programs, particularly, of course, the Head Start and subsequently developed Follow Through programs. Head Start now involves approximately 480,000 children with an average expenditure per child for a full academic year of \$1,050. For school year 1969-70, the total number of children served in the Follow Through program will be about 35,000 at a cost of approximately \$800 per child. This includes the cost of developing and evaluating model programs. After the developmental process is over, the cost would be reduced by a substantial amount.

Research in early childhood education has been advanced considerably through federal support and special projects. The National Laboratory for Early Childhood Education, established in 1967, is a network of seven university-based centers under the leadership of a National Coordination Center, the Central Midwestern Regional Educational Laboratory in St. Louis, Missouri. In addition, early childhood development programs are being operated by at least six of the federal Regional Education Laboratories.

Current federal efforts also include some centralization of information about on-going research projects in early childhood education. The Educational Resources Information Center (ERIC), designed and supported by the U.S. Office of Education, includes a clearinghouse at the University of Illinois at Urbana whose focus is early childhood education. ERIC collects, summarizes, indexes and disseminates research and development materials as well as analyzing and interpreting the data.



Through planned variation in the Head Start and Follow Through programs, the federal government ovides a number of model demonstration centers that offer important materials for others developing programs. Parent and Child Centers, operated through HEW's Office of Child Development, are developing useful data on assistance to parents both before and after their children are born.

Recent federal legislation has offered interesting incentives to industry to enter the early childhood field. Amendments to the Labor-Management Relations Act in 1969 permit employer contributions to trust funds to establish child care centers for preschool and school-age dependents of employees. (Thus, such contributions can become an object of collective bargaining.) Subsequently, several companies appear to be considering or setting up day care projects. And two Boston firms, AVCO and KLH, have initiated programs. Amendments to the Social Security Act in 1967 called for establishment of day care centers for children of mothers who cannot qualify for welfare payments unless they have a job or obtain job training.

The Federal Focus

In spite of these significant beginnings and much discussion of the general importance of early childhood education, federal programs have been aimed primarily at assisting young children in special circumstances who might otherwise be expected to face future problems—generally the children of the poor—and reducing the welfare rolls by allowing women with young children to be trained, get and hold jobs. Indeed, total federal funding for early childhood education declined from \$416 million in 1969 to \$408 million in 1970. It should be noted, however, that Head Start funding, although originally slated for a ten percent reduction this year, was boosted to an all-time high of \$360 million for FY 1971.

There is some evidence that renewed efforts are being made to put substance in federal efforts to promote early childhood programs. In the past, pressing needs in other areas—particularly higher education—absorbed a substantial proportion of federal funds. But new federal interest in early childhood programs is becoming evident.

In establishing priorities for research and development in education, the U.S. Office of Education in 1970 listed the following areas as receiving first attention: (1) reading; (2) early childhood; (3) vocational education; (4) school organization and administration; and (5) higher education. President Nixon has reaffirmed the federal government's commitment to early childhood, but the trend suggested in the Administration's Family Assistance Program (which passed the House



but was defeated in the Senate Committee) would relate day care to welfare programs.

Coordinating Federal Efforts

As in other areas, federal programs have often complicated state efforts to provide coordinated early childhood services. In fact, since 1965 when the Head Start program began, the proliferation of federally funded programs has been almost overwhelming. A guide to Federal Programs for Young Children, published in October 1970 by the Appalachian Regional Commission, lists no fewer than 310 federally funded early childhood programs (including child care and education; health, medical and welfare services; individual grants; training programs; food and nutrition; facilities and equipment; research and demonstration programs; and information and technical assistance). The same source lists 18 different federal agencies which administer these programs (Agriculture; American Printing House for the Blind; Commerce; Office of Economic Opportunity; Federal Housing Administration; Government Printing Office; Health, Education and Welfare; Housing and Urban Development; Intergovernmental Relations; Interior; Justice; Library of Congress; National Endowment for the Arts; National Science Foundation; President's Committee on Mental Retardation; Small Business Administration; Smithsonian Institution; and Veterans Administration).

The duplication, overlapping and rivalry evident at the federal level are often reflected and compounded in the states. Head Start grants, for example, go directly from HEW's Office of Child Development to local community action agencies or other public and private nonprofit agencies. Coordination of Head Start programs with efforts funded and administered by state agencies is greatly complicated.

An important premise of this report is that states must develop administrative structures to coordinate their early childhood efforts. Simultaneous action must be taken to coordinate federal administration of programs for young children. Of course, program operation should not be interrupted while the coordinating efforts are undertaken.

For a summary of pending federal legislation, see Appendix B.

Conflicting emphases are evident in Congress, but several bills would initiate coordination of federal programs for young children.



None of these bills, however, includes significant provisions for state level planning and coordination of early childhood programs.

Implications for the States

No matter what happens during the 92nd Congress, it is clear that the states will be left with major problems of developing and implementing statewide, coordinated and comprehensive programs. Although the federal government may make renewed efforts to consolidate its major research and operational activities, it is doubtful that the states will be much affected. And even if the major legislation proposed enjoys favorable action, there is little evidence that substantial financial support can be expected.

The most obvious lesson to be learned from previous and proposed federal activity in early childhood education is that—although new directions and priorities may be suggested and though there may be some seed money or special programs for special groups, particularly the disadvantaged—it will be up to the states to carry the major burden of their programs. In addition, the states will have to assume the responsibility of coordinating their own efforts with the many ongoing, federally supported programs.

It will be increasingly important for states to include in their own legislation provisions that encourage local districts and agencies to avoid program duplication resulting from federal funding patterns. In Florida, for example, legislation to be proposed in 1971 would provide incentive grants to districts which have made maximum use of all available federal funds.

This report is addreszed to the question of the appropriate state action to be taken to implement early childhood programs. Perhaps the first action is to support federal legislation that would centralize federal programs and would give the states the authority to coordinate all of the activities under the various federal programs that are related to young children. Legislation should provide the funds that would make such coordination possible and require the states to survey the resources and needs within the state to develop a comprehensive program. Furthermore, legislation should request the states to establish a plan and priorities in early childhood development and submit a report to the federal government. Such reports from the states could provide the federal government with guidelines for future legislation. There are indications that such requirements will be enacted in 1971. Forward-thinking states would include central planning provisions in their early childhood programs in order to maximize federal funding.



organizational structure at the state level

How early childhood programs are administered at the state level will substantially affect the impact and nature of the state effort. And one thing is clear. Coordination of state programs must be drastically improved. Continued efforts must be made to eliminate the duplication caused by overlapping funding procedures. Both program centralization at the federal level and a means of channeling funds and effecting planning through a central state agency are needed. Federal and state legislation should be enacted to establish coordinating machinery for early childhood programs.

A centralized state approach and the development of a comprehensive state plan should help mak: maximum use of federal funding sources which often go underutilized because of the categorical, disjointed funding process resulting from varying statutes and regulations. A program for coordinated state planning would anticipate proposed national legislation. The Appalachian Regional Commission, for example, now requires that a state interagency committee be designated to approve, supervise and/or carry out planning for comprehensive services to young children. The interagency committee integrates planning, sets priorities and may also set program standards.

Existing Patterns of Administration

Present administrative patterns vary widely. In many state departments of education, an early childhood specialist in the division of elementary education is responsible for promoting and everseeing department programs and for effecting an informal liaison with programs run by other state agencies, the federal government and occasionally with private efforts.

State departments of social services, usually through the division



of public welfare, are generally responsible for licensing preschools and day care programs—excluding Head Start. They sometimes also administer day care programs for working mothers funded und a Title IV of the Social Security Act of 1962. Head Start programs, which are funded by the federal government directly to local, public and private agencies, are administered by the regional HEW Offices of Child Development, though technical assistance is often provided with OEO funds through the governor's office at the state level. State departments of health often fund and administer special programs for the handicapped and immunization, vaccination and corrective treatment programs for health problems which might handicap children educationally. In addition, in some states, there are preschools administered directly by local school districts and supported by either local or federal (primarily Title I, ESEA) funds.

In some states, special efforts have been made to bring about a formalized coordination structure. Arkansas, for example, has a Governor's Council on Early Childhood Development formed to coordinate early childhood programs and services in the state as well as to design proposals for executive or legislative action and to educate the public about the field.

In other cases, state coordination is beginning to be effected through the federal Community Coordinated Child Care Program (4-C), which is administered under HEW's Office of Child Development. The 4-C program is a mechanism to coordinate programs of existing agencies providing day care and preschool services as well as other child and family services. Without a statutory base, however, it often lacks the impact necessary to achieve meaningful coordination.

Eight states (New Hampshire, Pennsylvania, Maryland, Ohio, Nebraska, Arkansas, Colorado and Oregon) and 13 communities are now conducting pilot 4-C programs. In Massachusetts, for example, the Governor's Advisory Committee on Child Development includes representatives of 13 state agencies. 12 service agencies and professional groups and 12 parents. The committee sets standards and makes long-range plans for day care and is the state's agency for the 4-C program. In other states the structure is less formal. The Colorado 4-C coordinator is an early C thood specialist affiliated with the state department of social services who works on a part-time basis to develop a network of communication and cooperation among the state's preschool and kindergarten programs. In addition to the 21 pilots, there are approximately 500 or more other communities and states that have begun developing 4-C organizations to plan and coordinate children's services to meet local needs.



Coordination where it exists is advisory and still only in the developmental stages. Fragmentation of the efforts of the numerous agencies in the field is widespread. And the growing significance of early childhood programs has not been reflected in state departments of education or in other state administrative agencies.

But if states are to assume a substantial responsibility for effective statewide educational programs for children before first grade, careful consideration must be given to the administrative structure to be utilized. There will inevitably be widespread growth—often in unconventional directions for which traditional administrative mechanisms are not always appropriate. Obviously, the placement of the overall responsibility for early childhood programs in one or another agency will influence the nature of the state's program. The alternative structures outlined below should be considered in terms of the suggested program implications as well as their feasibility within the framework of the state's current operations. Future-oriented planning is particularly important now.

Functions of a State Administering Agency

Any agency assigned or created to assume general responsibility for the administration of state early childhood programs should have at least the following functions:

- To supervise or coordinate all state and federal funds for early childhood programs;
- To analyze, make recommendations about and coordinate all state and federally funded programs for the development of early childhood personnel;
- To develop a master plan for early childhood programs, staff and funding across the state;
- d. To analyze and develop recommendations for state certification efforts related to early childhood personnel;
- To develop a system of early diagnosis of children's needs and of meeting them.
- f. To develop a system of parental training and for parental involvement in their children's education;
- g. To make recommendations regarding state standards for private, particularly franchised, early childhood programs.
- h. To serve as an dvocate and promoter of programs to meet the needs of all young children in the state and to stimulate the development of postsecondary and inservice training programs for early childhood personnel.



Structures to Be Considered

Alternative 1

The establishment of a division of early childhood development within an existing state agency, such as the state department of education or health or welfare. A division head should be assigned with sufficient rank and responsibility to be of influence within the department.

If such a division were established in the department of education, it would be responsible for development and administration of programs for children through the age of five. At present, state departments of education generally are comprised of separate divisions, headed by a deputy commissioner, for elementary education (first through eighth or ninth grades) and for secondary education (the high school years). More significant and effective program development would result if current responsibilities were reorganized so that separate divisions were created for (1) early childhood programs defined as those for children through the age of nine (third grade); (2) internediate programs for grades four through eight or nine; and (3) secondary programs for grades nine or ten through 12.

Such a reorganization would facilitate articulation between preprimary and first, second and third grade programs.

The division would have responsibility for administering those programs fended by the st. te and coordinating with federal and other programs administered through other state agencies. If a state, for example, were to provide an educational component for children at day care centers, the division of early childhood education would assume direct responsibility for the educational program and for coordinating it with the ongoing day care effort. Similar coordination with day care programs sponsored by industry for employees' children should be within the province of the division also.

It is important that the division be established at a level of recognized responsibility. The prevalent pattern, by which eachy childhood programs are administered by staff without the influence and stature to effect innovative concepts and coordinate the innumerable programs administered by various agencies, has been generally ineffective and should not be duplicated.

Benefits and drawbacks Placing responsibility for early child-hood programs in a newly created division of the state department of education would insure utilization of the experience and familiarity of a traditional structure and would maximize the emphasis on the educational aspects of programs for



very young children. By retaining responsibility for these programs within the same framework administering elementary and secondary schools, the set-up should enable the school system to facilitate the transition between early childhood programs and the standardized first, second and third grades. At the same time, such a structure might make it more difficult to develop innevative kindergarten and pre-kindergarten programs. The tendency to extend current school patterns back down to younger children would be great.

But emphasizing the educational aspects of the program under these circumstances might be more of a drawback than a benefit to a coordinated day care program. In fact, a necessary condition would have to be that the state department's personnel would have to think in terms of the development of the child, not just the child's education. Even under these circumstances, it may be difficult to obtain the cooperation and support of other state agencies who have a stake in the program.

If either the department of health or welfare were designated as the state agency for administering the early childhood education program, internal reorganization there such as we suggest in education would be necessary to give the program a prominent place in that department.

The benefits seem to be fewer and the drawbacks greater with either health or welfare but, of course, that depends on the state's structure and current organizational pattern. In Florida, for example, legislation is being proposed which would place responsibility for early childhood programs in the welfare department because of that agency's proven record in the field.

Alterrative 2

The establishment of an office of child development as an independent state agency, headed by a commissioner of child development appointed by the governor. The office would administer all programs in the state for children up to the age of six. A special advisory board should be established composed of the heads of the departments of health, ment, I health, welfare, social security, education, vocational education at Vian, or colleges, higher education the chairmen of the legislative education committees and representatives of private early childhood programs. In addition, a special consulting committee comprised of pediatricians and child psychiatrists and psychologists should be appointed by the governor to advise the office of child development on special programs.

This approach is being recommended on a preliminary basis by



the Massachusetts Early Education Project, conducted by Harvard University. The project suggests the creation of a department for children to consolidate the state's role in early education and child care. Its primary functions would be providing consultation, technical assistance and advice at the local level to facilitate establishment and maintenance of quality child care services; licensing, research and evaluation, planning and coordination. The department would have an advisory council, in conformity with the Community Coordinated Child Care (4-G) concept, comprised of parents, providers of service (public and private), child development experts and representatives of agencies involved in children's services. The department would have a working budget that emphasizes provision of technical assistance and consultation to local communities to foster the growth of needed child care services. The bulk of the services would be locally arranged and either without cost or paid for by the family and the local community. A proposed budget for the office-including 46 central and regional professional personnel, 20 central and regional nonprofessional personnel, maintenance of one central and eight regional offices, and program support—totals \$1.2 million.

Benefits and drawbacks

The establishment of an office of child development at the state level offers a new approach stressing overall state-level coordination and heightened prestige for the early years. Concentration on the development and implementation of innovative programs and staffing patterns, including particularly early diagnosis and parental involvement, would be more feasible than within any of the traditional administrative structures. Similarly, the development of new funding patterns should be facilitiated. It might be possible, for example, to establish a general fund including all moneys expended by the state for early childhood programs (education, health, welfare, etc.) which would then be allocated to the office of child development for distribution to various programs. Centralized coordination would be greatly enhanced.

The imposition of such a superstructure might add to the problems of red tape already evident in coordination. It should be very clear that a new level of bureaucracy is not just being superimposed on existing problems. And there is some danger that intensive centralization of authority would limit local initiative and participation. The need for new efforts to avoid program and administrative duplication are so great, however, that with proper safeguards for variety it does not seem probable that such an organizational pattern would lead to excessive central control.



Alternative 3

The establishment of a state child care coordinating council in the governor's office. The governor would appoint the council and delegate authority to it. The membership would consist of parents (at least one-third of the total membership), representatives of public agencies having an interest in child development programs (such as the board of education, the department of public welfare, etc.), and representatives of private groups having an interest in children's services (such as professional organizations and education institutions).

The council would be responsible for planning child development services on a statewide basis. It would also be responsible for coordinating all state services for children; members of the council, while retaining responsibility for their individual programs, would agree to coordinate and administer those programs and allocate resources on the basis of the state plan. Finally, the council would be responsible for evaluation of children's services.

One approach to such a council was adopted in West Virginia in April 1971. Governor Arch Moore, by executive order, created an Interagency Council for Child Development Services and delineated its structure, powers and duties. The Council, composed of the heads of state agencies with early childhood concerns, will develop and maintain a comprehensive plan for the provision of child development services in the state, allocate and evaluate the functions of council member agencies, determine priorities and make recommendations for legislation. Governor Moore appointed himself chairman of the council.

Benefits and drawbacks

Such an approach would facilitate overall state planning and coordination through the central administration of various program funds. Placing the council in the governor's office would give it the authority to implement substantive innovation in program content and delivery mechanisms. Such an approach would also minimize the dangers of adding to red tape, as the council, being composed of representatives of groups already operating children's programs, would not represent a new layer of bureaucracy. Finally, the participation of consumers spatents) as voting members, not simply advisors, will alleviate the dangers of mensive centralization. Some inconsistency might result from changes related to the political and changing nature of the governership



alternative state program approaches

The type of program a state chooses and where it sets its initial priorities within the many early childhood education program alternatives must be carefully considered in light of everall state needs and resources. A state may combine several approaches to meet the various needs of its young children and their families. The most difficult decisions will involve where to begin, how to best use available resources, and how best to plan program expansion to meet the general need.

The recommendations and alternatives suggested for state action are based upon four assumptions:

- 1. The state has a responsibility to the total population.
- 2. The state must develop some equitable basis for the ailocation of funds.
- A state program should take into consideration the possible participation by several agencies in the function of programs
- A state will probably have to phase in the program over a number of years.



ALTERNATIVE STATE PROGRAM

The following table has been compiled to highlight the major might consider in developing early childhood programs

Larget Orientation	Program.	Objectives
Education for parents of children voranger than three. Seed on demonstration 1703	Comprehensive health and developmental training for expectant and new parents.	To prevent most severe health and educationally related handic aps by early parent training and diagnosis to help families do a better jub of rearing their children.
Reaching the child in his home	Classroom training of par- cats to work with their own children, e.g., toy library.	Even with limited training program, large numbers of parents can be helped to enhance the early development of all youngsters in the family
	IV training of parents to work with children	Datough parent-oriented programs, probably in con- junction with a child's series, programs to train parents to work with their own children.
	Parent training meluding a home visit by a professional	To monitor and assist parent participation in child's devel- opment through visit by quelined professional teacher or adde to work with parents and children in the home situation.
	IV programs for children	To supplement parent and other child development efforts be provided extractionary IV force.
Combined appreach - reaching civild in home and group experience	Percin training, bonders is a plus limited class room experience for children. TV as instructional aid.	Farm involven cut in child's divelopment of home is impolemented by TV assistance. Children also benefit in owned growth by shoring and working together in a group. The combined approach offers added possibility of admit/ving volungates or Landies which need special help becomes of mental or physical headings.
Providing group espe- rate es lot voong children	Support softene d Head Scitt programs	Esta depresente nellis of He descriptograms to roote children building owen sting administrative of describes resources.



APPROACHES A SUMMARY

features of the several alternative approaches which states and which are discussed more fully in this section.

Funding Methody/Costs

State could operate demonstration child care centers or license, supervise and subsidize locally or privately run centers. A diagnostic center could operate for \$25 per child.

Costs can be as low as \$100 per fam. by.

Average cost of a proposed program in the Southwest for billingual families is 50 years per family per year.

\$200-\$300 per child, as indisated by experimental program at the University of Illinois, Urbana

Init, deost, as indicated by Sear e Street, may be as low as \$1 a year per child. Tapes s — be bought by states for reuse as desired.

\$235 per child as indicated by model program of veloped by App dather Educational Laborators Evaluation

A creative and innovative program for children from 0-3 or 4, according to some experts, offers the greatest benefits by preventing later health and educational problems

Has proven effective on limited scale. Problem of no follow-up and little chance of diagnosing difficulties unless fatally returns to program for help

Model program has not yet been developed. Might be difficult to reach groups with greatest need. Potential is believed to be great.

Initial results of demonstration program encouraging. Home visit encourages parents, maintains progress and is useful in diagnosing and solving problems.

Initial year's program of Sesame Street effectively increased viewers' learning May be difficult to reach children with greates need.

Appalachi i program has been successful ii, using paraprofessionals and in royal areas. Could be applied in urban situation. Combined approach offers significant developmental benefits.

As the cross is \$1050 per chald Substitute is single shadowing and transportation of a going and transportation programs could be to could be

The advantages of a Head Matt. spe program in meeting special needs, using specially trained but not all certified staff and community facilities could be extended to a high-quality state program.



ALTERNATIVE STATE PROGRAM

Target O ientation	Fiogram	Objectives
Providing group experiences for young children (cont'd)	Subsidization of private programs for selected children.	To aid child, en most in need through existing programs especially when no, or insufficient, public programs exist.
	Day Care, with planned and developmental experiences explicitly posided.	To encourage provision of day care services for working parents and to enhance the program with planned developmental experiences, state to support an educational component or full-time professional staff.
	${ m \hat{a}V}$ in ${ m a}$ classroom situation.	To supplement classroom efforts with innovative programming, could be basis for expanded program.
Preschools	Classroom training for 3- and 4-year-olds.	To provide classroom pro- grams for younger children
Kindeigarten	Cilissroom programs 3-31: hours per day, 5 days a week	To provide a classroom pro- gram for five-year-olds
Accreditation of private programs	Regulating standards of private preschools and kindergartens, especially those established by franchising	To insure state surveillance over physical facilities, staff qualifications and minimal program standards, flexibility is essential



APPROACHES A SUMMARY - (Continued)

Funding Methods/Cost.

A voucher to be provided to ea h child to be redeemed in educational services. Value could be determined according to need and s ate resources. State might consider establishing loan fund to assist in expansion of facilities.

State encouragement of federal and private funding of overall day care program: e.g., state matching funds for federal grants under Title IV. Social Security Act and Tax incentives for industrial programs for employees. Cost would be about \$1500 per pupil or less if limited educational component provided.

Some sayings in materials with a concomitant increase in quality should be realized.

At least five states provide funds for preschools usually through special demonstration grants. Per pupil allocations range from \$200 to \$780 per year

Kindergai ens are now operated in at least 38 states and funded usually through the foundation program in 28. State support ranges from \$17 to \$900 per pupil. This does not include provisions for comprehensive services.

Evaluation

Would enable state to offer support for preprimary programs with a classroom emphasis without major outlay of funds for facilities and personnel

Would help meet growing a need for day care while enhancing the development of children of working parents who might be among those with great need for such a program. Should probably be part of every state's early childhood effort.

Will be increasingly important as communications technology advances (e.g.: NASA plans for communications satellite available for educational programming).

Although preschools offer social and developmental experiences, they are expensive and other alternatives may be as effective and involve parents more. State support for establishing formal preschools should be a limited part of a comprehensive program.

If landergarten not yet established, children would be lest and most economically served by a combination of the alternatives outlined, probably including some kindergarten-type programs especially for the handicapped and those with learning disabilities.

All states should probably initiate efforts to insure minimum standards in private programs



PART 1. A COMPREHENSIVE APPROACH INCLUDING CHILDREN YOUNGER THAN THREE

It would be a disservice to states concerned about the development of young children to leave the impression that there is agreement that a combination of programs for three- to five-year-olds is the best approach. It is an assumption of this report that legislative demands for measurable standards and the understandable tendency to provide services for youngsters not yet served by the public schools in descending age groups will mean that—to be adopted—programs should focus on fives, fours and threes.

In fact, however, many experts argue that the most effective approach—and therefore in the long run the most economical—should focus on the health and welfare of expectant mothers and the upbringing of the infant child. The assumption is that if prenatal health problems were prevented, postnatal difficulties diagnosed and treated, and very early development properly directed, many fewer children would need special programs. And those who did could be better assisted by special attention before the age of three.

There is strong support for the recommendation that a forwardthinking, innovative state should develop a comprehensive program focused on prospective parents and children in the first few years of life.

Whether or not states develop programs for three-, four- and five-year-olds, it might be desirable to start with a program for parents with children under three because:

- After the initial expense of developing such a program, the cost would be relatively low;
- (2) The ability to make early diagnoses and provide early remediation where needed would strengthen programs for the threes, fours and fives; and
- (3) Some day care services for mothers of children under three are essential regardless of the decision about where to focus other state efforts. In light of this fact, it would be unfortunate to miss the opportunity to make these services as effective as possible.



Such programs should probably start no later than when an expeciant mother knows she is pregnant. They could start sooner; for example, in high school courses for boys and girls that help them understand how human beings grow and develop. Such courses should include some experience of working with young children in day care or Head Start centers or in the early elementary grades.

It is crucial that expectant parents learn about the needs for an adequate diet and other health needs during pregnancy and how to care for an infant. They should also know what to expect during the first few weeks of the infant's life. After the child is born, the mother and father need a constant source of information on how the child develops and how to aid in that development. One way to provide this kind of assistance is through adult edutation courses, but such courses without additional input will only reach the better informed and most interested parents—the ones who are least likely to need the information.

As long as a child is receiving an adequate diet and living in a healthy, stimulating environment there is little need for concern about his development and intellectual growth. An organization that might help define health and a stimulating environment would be a child care center. There young parents could see films, borrow books and consult counselors on the development of infants and young children. They could also borrow games and toys accompanied by information on ways in which these could be used to help their children grow. The center would provide diagnostic services for examination of young children to discover any problems that might exist such as hearing, or visual difficulties, or learning disabilities of different kinds. The center could either have the services available to correct the problems and assist parents in coping with them or refer parents to other agencies that could help.

For some very young children, there will be a need to provide day care services because (1) the child is not in a healthy environment or (2) the parents need the service. The determination of need based upon the child's requirements could be made by the diagnostic team in the center and the participation would be voluntary on the part of the parents. In any event such service is expensive—probably in excess of \$1,500 per year for all day care and should be on a fee basis, according to the parents' ability to pay.

The state could choose to operate such day care centers, delegate a local agency to operate them, or 1 cense, supervise, and subsidize privately operated centers.



PART 2. ALTERNATIVE PROGRAMS FOR THREES, FOURS AND FIVES

There is no evidence that all three-, four- and five-year-old children will benefit from a three-hour or longer formalized group experience in a nursery school, Head Start or kindergarten. But there is considerable evidence that all children need an intellectually stimulating environment during these years when they are developing at a rapid rate.

Child in the Home Programs

An effective course of action would be to provide help to parents so that they can aid their young child in developing. This is the least expensive way to reach the greatest number; it tends to strengthen the family; it develops the competence of the parents; and it probably contributes as much or more to the child's intellectual development as a three-hour classroom program.

a. Classroom training of parents to work with their children. Several programs could be developed which depend upon limited training of parents to work with their own children. Training can be provided through evening courses in school facilities or other locations.

One example is a parent/child toy-lending library program where the parents meet once a week for eight weeks. They learn general principles about child growth and development and how to help their children develop language ability. They see demonstrations of how to use a game or toy or puzzle to help a child develop a skill, learn a concept or solve a problem. After seeing the demonstration, the parents practice using the game and then take it nome and try it with their own children. After they finish the course, they can borrow toys and games from the library as often as they wish. Such a program has the advantage of not requiring a classroom and of enabling a teacher, who normally reaches 15 to 20 children a year, to reach more than 100 parents a year. The estimated cost is about \$100 per parent.

This program could be supplemented while a mother is still in the hospital with movies about approaches important both to the newborn and older children in the family. Such efforts have proven extremely effective on a limited scale, though there is the problem of no follow-up and little chance of diagnosing problem situations unless the family returns to the program subsequently for help.



- b. TV training of parents to work with children. The use of television to reach parents and to train them to work with their children has great potential. A creative state could develop its own parent-oriented program building on Sesame Street, perhaps in conjunction with the Children's Television Workshop. Or an entirely new program based on a parent participation concept might be tried. The Federation of Rocky Mountain States is proposing two companion bilingual programs in the Southwest, one for bilingual children and one for their parents. Average cost per family is estimated to be about 50 cents per year.
- c. Parent training including a home visit. Either of the above-mentioned approaches could be rendered more effective—at relatively little additional cost—by adding a home visit by a qualified professional teacher or aide who would work with both parents and children in the home situation.

An experimental tutorial program at the University of Illinois in Urbana demonstrates this possibility. The program focuses on children between the ages of one and four who live in deprived areas. Mothers conduct daily sessions at home with their children and also attend a two-hour group meeting once a week with professional staff at a local preschool. To check on the progress of mother and child and to help solve any problems, staff members make home visits once a month or more often as needed.

The results of the program with the initial group of 20 mothers have been encouraging to educational researchers. It is estimated that the cost of duplicating the program, which is now funded as an Office of Economic Opportunity research demonstration project, would total \$200 to \$300 per child. This would include salaries of one trained professional and two teacher aides for each 20 children; funds for transportation to group meetings; and costs of materials.

d. Television programs for children. The development of special television programs for children offers important early educational opportunities, as Sesame Street has proven. States should not expect Sesame Street to discharge their early childhood responsibilities; it cannot by itself. But it can serve as a principle agent for children whose parents build on it. States should encourage parents to utilize the experience. For children without this support, it can at least supplement other educational programs. The initial cost per child may be as low as \$1.00. Tapes can be bought by the states for reuse as desired. An evaluation of the first year of Sesame Street, conducted by the Educational Testing Service, indicated that the learning

of viewing children has been effectively increased but that the greatest gains resulted when families enhanced the television experience. Thus to some extent it has been difficult to reach children with the greatest need.

Combined Group Education, Television and Home Visit Program

Another technique would be to combine working with the parents and limited classroom experience or special service. A combined approach, which provides a classroom experience in addition to a home visit program and uses television as an instructional aid, offers extended benefits, including parent involvement in education at home but also social growth by giving children practice in sharing and working together in a group.

A model effort is being implemented by the Appalachia Educational Laboratory. A specially designed mobile classroom vary driven and staffed by a teacher and an aide, offers children a weekly group experience. Classes are held for 15 children for two-hour sessions. A special television program is shown for a half-hour each weekday during the school year. Teachers' aides make weekly home visits, for 30 to 45 minutes, to work with the mouter and child, building on the television series and using additional materials. The home visitors, who range in age from 18 to 63 and have at least a high school diploma or the equivalent, receive three weeks of preservice training and an afternoon of inservice training every two weeks. It is estimated that the program could be provided to all three-, four- and five-year-olds in the State of West Virginia at an annual cost of \$235 per child. Establishing standard kindergarten classes for the same children would cost \$496 per child per year.

Although the Appalachian program has been aimed to serve children in rural, sparsely populated areas, it could be used successfully in urban and suburban areas. The use of a mobile classroom would alleviate problems of finding or constructing standard facilities.

This approach could be made particularly effective during a course for parents or the home visit by a professional or aide. Those children and parents needing special help because of physical and mental handicaps could be identified and provided the additional help required. For example, a child with a special speech problem might come to a center for help three times a week but a child who is visually handicapped might special assistance.



Group Programs for Threes, Fours and Fives

A third alternative would be to provide different kinds of group experiences for young children. The previously discussed alternatives for three-, four- and five-year-old children are relatively inexpensive and could probably be undertaken by most states without any major shift in priorities. But providing facilities and teachers for large numbers of children to receive group care becomes expensive and does force a state to consider priorities.

Some programs for young children in a group situation—other than standard kindergarten and preschool—can be provided, however, by building on programs that already exist. There is a financial advantage to such efforts—because the start-up and facilities costs would be reduced

a. Educational experience in a day care program. Day care services are needed in increasing numbers to service families who have no choice but to leave a young child in someone's care while they work or study. Day care comes in different forms: day care centers and day care at home for four or five children. Day care centers can be privately or publicly operated or supported by industry. A day care "home" provides as teachers adults who have the same culture and life style as the parents and keeps the child in a more home-like and less institutionalized setting. Though such homes currently have a poor record of performance, this problem is primarily a matter of training, regulation and supervision. An experimental program in New York City has demonstrated that such a setting can offer highquality day care service and provide employment for some mothers. State requirements for such homes would have to be revised, training provided and some realistic system of supervision established. The homes should be related to a larger day care center which can provide comprehensive services that are needed to make the day care homes work.

Unlike kindergarten, which lasts three or four hours a day for nine months, day care lasts all day long every working day of the year. This time element makes a fundamental difference to the children and to the adults who teach and work in day care centers. And a day care program serves a wide age range of children—from infants to nine- to twelve-year-old children (in an after-school program), providing apportunities for younger and older children to associate with each other—an arrangement that offers many beneficial icarning apportunities.



There are substantial and increasing federal and private—particularly industry—funds available for day care programs. But facilities are not yet adequate to the demand.

State participation in day care programs would be most effective if it included two simultaneous efforts:

- encouragement of expanded federal and privately funded programs,
 - —by providing state matching funds for federal grants such as those available under Title IV of the Social Security Act and being contemplated under the Family Assistance Program and
 - offering incentives to industries to establish day care programs for their employees' children; and
- (2) provision of state support for an educational component in an ongoing day care program. Teachers, teachers' aides and materials could be provided in day care centers for limited sessions, perhaps two hours a day several times a week, with state funding. A primary purpose of the program would be to involve the regular day care staff in the educational program so that they could themselves assist in the intellectual development of the children and perhaps serve as teachers' aides. After-hours and weekend programs could be developed to involve parents and then train them to supplement the program at home. The cost of providing such an educational component would be less than supporting a full-time educational program with a certified teaching staff. Such a circumscribed approach would not, however, give the state as much leverage in coordinating day care programs and regulating the maintenance of minimum standards.

The costs of including professional educators on the full-time staff of a day care program are suggested by two nursery school centers in Santa Monica, California. These state-supported but locally administered centers provide quality day care facilities with learning activities at low cost to working mothers and other needy families. Each school enrolls 37 children and employs five teachers, a cook, housekeeper and part-time nurse. Both are located near junior high schools and serve as laboratory schools for eighth and ninth graders interested in child development. The centers are supported by state funds and parents' fees, supplemented in some districts by a local tax. The state contributes an average of 52 cents per hour per child, or three-fourths of the cost of the program. Parent fees, which are deter-

mined on a sliding scale, cover the remaining one-fourth of the cost and average 16 cents per hour per child. The cost of the program, which averaged \$1,274 per pupil annually is justified on the basis that the availability of the centers enables many families to be self-supporting who would otherwise have to depend on more costly forms of public assistance.

Such an effort could be provided in day care centers supported by federal, state, local or private funds, in child care programs run by industry for employees' children, or even in day care homes for small groups of children. In the latter instance, it would be necessary to establish special training programs for the licensed operator who would be assisted by periodic visits from a professional teacher or teacher aide. State funds should be provided for specially selected equipment which would be available on a loan basis. For example, a compact "store-under-the-bed" version of the toy library might be very useful.

b. Support and extend Head Start programs. Head Start usually provides a three-hour program for three- and tour-year-old children; but in districts that do not have kindergartens. Head Start includes five-year-olds. As in kindergarten, the major focus is on educational programs in the classroom for 15 to 20 children. Head Start provides additional health and social services for children and their parents and encourages the parents to participate in the classroom as paid assistants or volunteers and to become involved in the decision-making process. Day care programs can also be supported by Head Start to provide educational, health, social service and parent participation components.

Head Start programs are not necessarily part of the public school system. In many instances, Head Start is operated by the public schools, but in other instances it is operated by social welfere agencies, churches and community action groups.

Even when Head Start is operated by the school district, the project usually has a special status and is not considered an integral part of the school program. This administrative arrangement has been beneficial to the innovational development of Head Start programs and has allowed them to experiment with the use of teacher aides or assistants and involve more parents in the decision-making process.

One of the problems, however, is that Head Start programs often lack the necessary administrative support structure to insure their continuity. They have difficulties obtaining adequate physical facil-



45



ities; they are not able to weather a temporary reduction in funds or a delay in funding; and they are subject to political and administrative problems that arise over the funding and administration of community action groups.

Yet Head Start programs have been very effective in meeting the needs of disadvantaged voungsters. The cost has been high, owing to the medical and dental services needed by many of the youngsters served.

An effective state program could be developed by expanding the existing Head Start effort to more five-, four- and three-year-olds. The same methods and assumptions should apply: nonschool facilities like church basements and storefronts could be used; teachers and teachers assistants could be specially trained and employed without meeting standard elementary certification requirements. If the full health services now considered part of Head Start were made integral to a state program, the effort would be significant in solving many of the education-related problems holding back not only disadvantaged but young children of all economic levels. Such services are, of course, expensive. Costs of Head Start range from \$870 per pupil in South





Carolina to \$2,800 for the same kind of program in Boston. The average cost is about \$1,050 per child per year.

It would be possible to provide similar services in conjunction with a Head Start—'to program at less cost. Legislation to be proposed in Florida in 1971, for example, would require that every three-year-old have medical tests for diseases and problems that might be considered educational handicaps. Most parents would be expected to pay for such examinations, but presumably state funds would be available if the family could not afford them.

An elaborate mechanism for the administration of Head Start already exists at the federal, regional and local levels. If the states were to become involved, careful steps should be taken to avoid administrative duplication and to reduce ever-rising administrative costs. In Denver there are seven different agencies designated to administer Head Start programs. If administration of these programs could be consolidated, substantial savings could be effected and many more children served. It has been estimated that, if Head Start funds could be administered by the state in South Carolina, at least 40,000 more children could be served.

Such consolidation could be accomplished without new federal or state legislation. It would be necessary for the Office of Economic Opportunity, which funds Head Start, to designate the state department of education or another state agency as the administering agency. The state agency would then be responsible for central administration. Although fears have been expressed that placing responsibility at the state level would limit Head Start's flexibility and parental involvement, any administering agency would be subject to the regulations now guiding local agencies.

Another approach used in Tacoma. Washington, provides a comprehensive program for more than 600 three- to nine-year-olds by using funds from Head Start, Follow Through, Title I of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act, and other state and local sources. Program components include day care centers, preschool classes, kindergarten classes, first-grade classes and a primary enrichment program. Program costs average about \$1,600 per child, about \$900 over the base district cost of \$700 per child. This cost includes the nutritional program, the cost for aides and staff training, and transportation of children to the centers.

c. Subsidize private programs for selected children. The stace might provide aid to children to attend existing private preschool and or kindergarten programs. If enough spaces were not available



at the outset, initial selection might be based on whether a child is determined to be "disadvantaged," his age (beginning with one age group); where he lives (in relation to the availability of private programs); a lottery system; or some other method.

The system could work like a voucher program. A child's family would be given a certain sum (higher if the family were below a certain economic level) which would be used at existing private preschools and/or kindergartens. Needless to say, careful planning would be necessary to insure that adequate space existed. A state might consider establishing a loan fund for facility expansion during the early years.

In some states, constitutional provisions may prohibit such a scheme. And there has been widespread opposition to such a plan at the elementary-secondary level. In early childhood education, however, the purpose would not be to set up competitors to the public schools. It would be to provide opportunities for children unable to take advantage of private programs when no public programs exist.

d. TV in a group situation. Sesame Street, the revolutionary preschoolers series developed by the Children's Television Workshop, has excited far-reaching thoughts about widespread use of the program—or similar ones—for group education for young children. The program is not an alternative to other experiences, but a supplement that can become an integral part of them. Such innovative programming can be used in conjunction with and to augment a classroom effort, yielding significant savings and high quality, and it can be used ingroups brought together for "class" in neighborhood homes, perhaps augmented by a "teacher" who visits each group once a week to assist a and advise the group mother.

Careful consideration should be given to building use of a TV series like Sesame Street into the educational program. A day care. Head Start or even a classroom kindergarten program could make effective use of the medium. Programs could even be built primarily around the series—bringing children and teachers together for two hours or more to view the program together and then to expand upon it.

The producers of Sesame Street are setting up a wide variety of experimental programs which will be part of a broader experience for children and their parents. In Detroit, starting in February 1971, 25,000 four-year-old children are being encouraged to watch Sesame Street daily and attend classes on Saturday morning. This is the first phase of a four-phase program. The second phase is to provide



summer school for 25,000 children. The third phase is to provide half-day preschool classes for 9,200 children, and the fourth phase would offer a preschool program for 25,000 children. So the use of TV is the first step in initiating a complete preschool program for four-year-old children.

In fact, communications technology is moving so rapidly that television as an educational medium should probably be considered to supplement almost all early childhood programs. The National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) is planning to launch a communications satellite which would be available for educational programming and which would broadcast directly to modified home receivers. The larger the area—particularly if sparsely settled—the more likely it is that satellites will be cheaper than terrestrial microwave relay.

c. State-supported classroom preschools. Many private organizations, some communities and some states in pilot programs offer classroom preschool programs for three- and four-year-olds for two or three mornings a week. Offering early group experiences and some educational training, these programs have been very popular with families who have come to believe that more training—starting earlier—is better for their children.

In many instances, such programs—little versions of kindergartens—provide important early experience. They are, however, higher in cost than the other alternative outlined here and do not usually involve parents actively in the education of their children.

In those states that do not have kindergarten, even the initiation of classroom programs for fours and fives only would mean adding two years to the existing 12-year system. If sufficient classrooms and teachers were added to the existing system to accommodate these children, it would require an expansion of about eight percent in facilities and about 17 percent in staff and funding. These estimates assume that two classes could be held in a room each day, but that at least two adults would be required in each room. In those states that have kindergarten the addition of one year for fours to the existing 13-year program would be more manageable. But it would still be a major expansion involving approximately five percent more in facilities and eight percent more in staffing and funding. Of course, the costs of also establishing similar programs for threes would be proportionately greater.

It is not recommended that states establish formal classroom programs for all three- and four-year-olds.



f. Insuring quality in on-going kindergarten programs. It is assumed that a state with an established public kindergarten program will continue to operate it. Although there is no evidence that formal classroom kindergartens are essential for all children, quality kindergarten programs certainly have desirable educational benefits that justify their continued support. The key is quality.

It is particularly important that states review and revitalize existing Lindergarten programs with the following guidelines in mind:

- a. Kindergarten should receive substantial state support equal to or exceeding state support for elementary classrooms.
- Certification standards should be flexible with provisions for certifying assistant teachers who have had little or no formal college training.
- c. Minimum standards for an instructional unit should be set. For example, an adult-child ratio of one to ten. For 30 children this might be one teacher and two assistants who might mothers of children in the program.
- Special provision should be made to involve parents in the program.
- c. Teachers should not be required to teach two sessions of kindergarten. If two sessions are necessary in the same room, the morning and afternoon sessions should be staffed by different teachers and assistants.

If reasonable standards cannot be set and maintained for kindergarten because of limited facilities or vost, a school district should look at other alternatives for serving five-year-old children and their parents.

If a state has not established kindergarten programs, it would be wise to consider the entire problem of providing for the development and education of all young children before undertaking the expensive proposition of providing facilities and teachers for its five-year-old children.

Accreditation of Private Programs

Whether or not a state has a formal state-supported kindergatten program, it is important that the state develop methods to regulate the standards of private kindergattens, particularly those established in the rapidly expanding franchising effort. There should be state surveillance over physical facilities, staff qualifications and minimal program standards. Of course, flexibility should be key.



50

priorities and methods for implementation

Whether a stale determines to provide classroom instruction for all five-year-olds and support alternative programs for younger children or to offer a variety and combination of out-of-classroom programs for all pre-first graders, the problem of how to phase in program activities must be faced. It is assumed that even if a state chooses low cost parent child programs, limitations of resources and staff will necessitate the establishment of initial priorities.

Concerted efforts should be made, as recommended elsewhere in this report, to secure the passage of federal legislation which would enable the states to coordinate federal programs in the state, to study the needs and resources of the claire state and to enable the state to establish comprehensive priorities. The states must continue to stress such a comprehensive approach. The intent should not be to delay action on program implementation but to underline the need for more coordination of effort.

- 1. Initial training of personnel. If a state is committed to the concept of early childhood education but is able to predict a lack of trained personnel for kindergarten and prekindergarten programs, it might adopt as its first priority the development of postsecondary and inservice programs for professional and other positions. Among the actions to be undertaken might be:
 - a program of incentive grants to state colleges and universities to encourage them to include specialized graduate programs in their schools of education and undergraduate B.A. programs in early childhood education;
 - a program of inective grants to state junior and community colleges to provide courses in early childhood education;



- the development of programs for retraining—through formal efforts in two-year and four-year institutions and through inservice programs—credentialed elementary school teachers wanting kindergarten positions;
- —the establishment of a limited number of model demonstration centers to provide inservice training for professional and paraprofessional personnel prior to the expansion of the state program.

It should be emphasized that this alternative of focusing first on staff development should not be undertaken without concurrent planning for the initiation of the state's early childhood program so that positions will be open as staff are prepared to fill them and so that funding commitments are made to the development of a full-scale program.

2. Early diagnosis. A state might focus first on the development of an early diagnosis system—and personnel to administer it—which would determine need for various alternative programs. To insure effectiveness of the alternative approaches suggested—to a greater or lesser degree—early diagnosis of a child's educational needs is basic. In many instances, the home situation with minimal professional guidance can prepare a child to enter a formal learning situation with adequate expectations of success. Of course, there will always be exceptions—because of particular family situations, physical or psychological handicaps, etc. If the special needs of such children are diagnosed early—at the latest by age three—and they can be directed to special programs, they can be guaranteed a reasonable chance of success. And the state can be saved substantial future costs.

Ideally, a comprehensive diagnosis system would not only identify those youngsters needing substantial help, but also those who need only minimal or no further preprimary assistance. By reducing the need to provide programs across the board for all children, such diagnosis would limit the "essential" state involvement.

Legislation proposed in New York for an Office of Child Development includes important provisions for development of professional personnel who would conduct early diagnosis programs. A bill has been introduced in the California Legislature to provide funds for such early diagnosis. The purposes of the proposed Educational Development Assessment Act are to reduce the incidence of students assigned to special education programs, cut down school failure due to undiagnosed, correctable learning disabilities and increase school personnel's knowledge of children's needs so that they can design more

satisfactory programs. The bill would provide state funds for up to 90 percent of the cost of such a program, but not to exceed \$45 per student to be assessed.

3. Model demonstration centers. The state could consider establishing a limited number of model demonstration centers. But the time has passed when the major requirement is to provide models. The federal government, through the planned variation program in Head Start and the Follow Through program, provides a number of model demonstration centers across the country that can be studied by individuals interested in state programs.

The same arrangement has not been provided for day care, but the Office of Child Development and the Office of Economic Opportunity funded a major effort during the summer of 1970 to pull together all the information on experimental and demonstration programs that could be used as parts of an effective day care program. This effort will result in the publication of three or four books covering: day care for infants; day care for three-, four- and five-year-old children; after-school day care for older children, and training of day care personnel. In addition, the Office of Economic Opportunity is planning to fund a number of demonstration centers across the United States. These federal efforts should fill the need for model demonstration centers.

4. Meeting the needs of the disadvantaged first. Another approach to establishing a program would be to serve first the children with the greatest need. This priority would focus initial efforts on children from low-income homes, children of ethnic and minority groups and handicapped children. Such an approach has the advantage of providing a systematic way of introducing and expanding a program step-by-step as funding, trained personnel and facilities become available. It is also based upon a sound premise of starting where the need is greatest.

But there are these limitations. The states would then be duplicating or supplementing federal programs; the result might be to encourage the federal government to either maintain the current effort or reduce it. If the notion of shared responsibility is acceptable, however, it would follow that the federal government should be encouraged to expand its efforts rather than to reduce them. In any case, there should be funding articulation and coordination between state and federal sources.

There is a problem of making administrative decisions as to who

has the greatest need. The income-level approach, used by the federal government, is probably the easiest, yet it is difficult to administer because of the vast variations in what income means even within a state.

Income as a method of determining who will receive services also presents other problems. A family may initially qualify for services and later improve its economic position so that it no longer qualifies. In such a case, a minor advance in the family income could be undesirable because of a loss in services for their children. Income level, moreover, does not necessarily correspond to need. It is probably true that the highest percentage of children with the greatest need are from low-income homes, but many children from other homes are in equal need of services.

There is also a political consideration. The working man who is just above the poverty level is probably willing to support such a program if he sees that, before long, he too will benefit; but if it appears that someone else's children are going to keep getting a "head start" and his children are not, he is likely to oppose the program strongly.

5. Support for an educational component for older children at day care centers. The beginnings of a state program might be developed by first subsidizing an educational component at existing public, private and industrially established day care centers for four-or five-year-old children. Such an effort would reach the children of working mothers, a high proportion of whom it can be assumed would benefit greatly from a formalized educational program; would provide the basis for future expansion to all children; and would offer an opportunity for inservice staff training without the need to solve facilities problems at the start.

Additional factors favoring day care as the place to start are the great need for it, the substantial political support behind it, and the federal funds available to contribute to its support. The state would provide some assistance to existing centers to provide an educational component, encourage industry by offering some assistance, and supplement the efforts of the federal government to establish new centers.

One of the basic considerations should be to assist day care homes to obtain a license and upgrade the quality of the service to children. Most of the children who are currently receiving day care services are in homes, and this will probably be true for some time to come. Indeed, good home day care offers many advantages to the children in care. But day care mothers need recognition, training, technical assistance and encouragement.



training and certifying quality personnel

The central issue in the provision of adequate personnel for early childhood development programs is not numbers. It is insuring quality of staff training and making it possible to utilize personnel with a variety of backgrounds for a variety of tasks. It has beed estimated that if every three-, four- and five-year-old were in some form of preprimary program, 800,000 additional personnel would be required to maintain a ratio of one adult to every ten children. Since it is not recommended that all of these children be in classrooms, the need for teachers will not be that great.

The growing surplus of teachers and Ph.D.'s in some specific fields has been widely noted. This factor, however, and the probability that out-of-work elementary school teachers particularly will be available for preprimary positions should no, be considered an easy solution to the personnel problems of early childhood education. With adequate planning and a well-designed on-the-job training program, however, adequate numbers of people can be trained.

The key point is that teachers and administrators for early childhood education require qualifications and training different from their counterparts working with older children. Certification procedures and teacher training programs should reflect this fact. For example, for the effective implementation of the program alternatives outlined in this report, a new type of professional early childhood educator will be required. Because emphasis should be on the full development of very young children in a variety of environments but particularly in the home and with the family, the early childhood



specialist must be able to muster and coordinate all the resources needed to foster full human effectiveness, wherever they may be located. At their best, such specialists will be sufficiently free from direct administrative ties to be able to help parents and children get better services from all existing agencies, to arrange for services not yet provided and to assist policy-makers in strengthening legislation and administrative structures. In many cases, they will be expected to perform difficult diagnostic functions to determine which youngsters may need more intensive attention before first grade.

In addition, many other staff positions will require training. Extensive provisions should be made to train teacher assistants to assist in and often take responsibility for the teaching-learning process. As Head Start programs have demonstrated, mothers and others from the community can with special on-the-job training—but without formal degrees and meeting present certification standards—fill significant staff roles for early childhood programs. Head Start has already opened the way for the use of aides and assistants in many public schools. Federal Follow Through programs for low-income children in kindergarten through third grade make extensive use of them.

The Hartford, Connecticut, public school system has an early childhood program which includes a particularly strong training effort for teachers and aides. Every teacher is assisted by an aide who must have a high school diploma or the equivalent and is paid approximately \$4,000 a year for fulltime classroom assistance. All teachers and aides are required to attend a three-week training session. The budget includes funds to pay substitutes for teachers attending the session during the year and aides receive their regular salaries. For summer training, teachers receive the amount a substitute teacher would cost for the period and aides get \$75 a week.

The requirements for a teacher in a day care center might be comparable to that of a Head Start teacher, but standards and training would also be necessary for individuals who operate day care homes for four or five children. Probably some prior training should be required on such topics as health and safety standards and mutrition. Introductory instruction would also be necessary on simple concepts of child growth and development. Beyond that, a good system of constructive supervision and on-the-job training could develop competent individuals to operate such programs.

Seattle's Neighborhood House Child Care Services program offers an interesting career ladder approach for day care personnel.



56

There are four levels: The irst, or entry level, is for trainces who observe and increasingly assume responsibility for working with other staff, parents and children. Trainces are expected to attend classes at a local community college when funds are available. Level two staff are intern teachers and expected to work independently. Level three staff are assistant teachers who may have up to three years of experience and 42 college credits. The position of head teacher, level four, requires a minimum of two years experience and 45 credits toward an associate of arts degreee. The career ladder for day care home mothers is similar with three levels. A mother with little or no background can move through all three levels in three to five years and should have accumulated 45 credit bours, which entitle her to an early childhood education certificate or a certificate related to the field of social work.

Fossible State Action

A state plan for training and certification should satisfy the following conditions:

- It should provide for the training and certification of a variety of different positions.
- It should provide for career development so that a person can enter as an assistant teacher and advance as he receives training and experience.
- It should provide a variety of ways to receive training—at colleges and universities, on-the-job, and independent study.
- 4. It should provide a basis for awarding a certificate that is not solely based on a specified number of college credit hour: that are tied to a specified number of hours of study. For example, a person should be able to demonstrate some competence in the classroom and receive credit without taking a course.
- It should provide a way for increased competency to be reflected in increased compensation.

In attempting to meet its personnel needs for early childhood education programs, states should take some or all of the following steps:

1. Establish credentials in early childhood education or at least provide for a strong specialization in early childhood education within the preparation of an elementary certificate—with the recognition that an effective early childhood educator must be able to encourage a child's development within his total environment.



- 2. Establish the same salary schedules, fringe benefits and tenure rights for early childhood teachers as for all other teachers, in an effort to encourage qualified individuals to enter the field and to make preprimary education an integral part of the state's elementary system. Flexibility should be of prime concern so that women with other responsibilities might be able to be certified without rigid residency and time requirements in formalized training.
- 3. Encourage the development of postsecondary and inservice programs for professional and other positions, through a variety of actions, including:
 - a program of incentive grants to state colleges and universities to encourage them to include specialized graduate programs in their schools of education and undergraduate B.A. programs in early childhood education;
 - a program of incentive grants to state junior and community colleges to provide courses in early childhood education;
 - the development of programs for retraining: -through formal efforts in two-year and four-year institutions and through inservice programs credentialed elementary school teachers wanting kindergarten positions;
 - —the establishment of a limited number of model demonstration centers to provide inservice training for professional and paraprofessional personnel prior to the expansion of the state program.
- 4. Develop programs particularly suited to training teaching aides, parents, siblings and other young people to assist with the wide range of program alternatives. Emphasis might be placed, for example, on creative training for high school students through cooperation with courses on human growth and development and part-time employment programs. Although many school districts include some such training in home economics classes, it appears that a different orientation would be more effective and would attract both boys and girls interested in working with the very young. Such a program would have the benefits of preparing prospective parents, encouraging more dedicated individuals to enter early childhood careers and spilling over to younger brothers and sisters at home.

Special training programs for parents are particularly appropriate for some of the parent child approaches attracting growing attention across the country. Experience indicates, for example, that



one teacher or someone who had been a successful teacher in a kindergarten or Head Start classroom could in one year educate 200 adults in how to use a toy library with their own children. Either one could operate the program after a week of special training and some assistance during the first and perhaps second course sequence.

5. Organize and train volunteers as teachers' assistants. The National Program for Voluntary Action offers an important vehicle which might be utilized at the state level to provide focused volunteer service for early childhood efforts. The program consists of two parts: a Cabinet Committee on Voluntary Action created by President Nixon in 1969 and an Office of Voluntary Action in the government sector; and a National Center for Voluntary Action (NCVA) which is a privately funded, nonpolitical, nonprofit corporation. The two parts collaborate closely to assist in the setting up of volunteer programs. Several states, including New York, Illinois and Washington, have already set up volunteer bureaus. Such bureaus—particularly if assisted by state funds for special training needs—might provide an important source of trained assistants.





59

providing adequate physical facilities

All state efforts to develop facilities and regulate their standards must be accompanied by three caveats: There must be a basic recognition of the need for flexibility in creative design; there must be a realization that a variety of different kinds of facilities will require a more flexible set of standards; and there should be adequate provision for state aid for construction of different kinds of facilities when funds are needed. As the establishment of formal classroom preschools and kindergartens are not a primary recommendation of this task force, it should be noted that many of the alternatives discussed in this report would require no, or only minimal, classroom space.

Nevertheless, it is assumed that under any alternative, at least some space for groups of children needing special attention—the mentally and physically handicapped—will be desirable. The first and most obvious step to take would be a careful assessment of existing facilities. The decline of the elementary school population will mean that some public school districts may have empty classrooms that can be utilized for kindergarten and preschool children. Growing interest in rescheduling the school calendar so that some students would attend regular sessions during the summer and vacation at other times of the year suggests that more districts will adopt extended school year programs, thus releasing space for early childhood education. It has been pointed out, for example, that a year-round program is North Carolina would provide adequate space for kindergartens statewide without laying a single brick.



Ways to Provide Adequate Facilities

Unless some minimal standards are established, formal classroom programs probably should not be undertaken. Too often the standards that are set and enforced have nothing to do with education. They are usually justified as health and safety standards but often the rigid enforcement of rules has no relationship to health or safety. Obviously, the health and safety of children must be protected, but a review of the applications of specific rules is certainly in order. Educational standards should also be established that go beyond statements of minimal space per child. For example, some regard for equipment and materials is essential.

If it is necessary and in many communities it will be necessary to provide additional facilities for groups of young children, provision should be made to allow for a variety of solutions to the problem.

The development of prefabricated structures that can be located on school grounds and that meet current standards offers an important method of meeting space needs at lower cost than new construction of traditional school buildings. For example, the Educational Facilities Laboratories (EFL) has designed and constructed with modular units an Early Learning Center in Stamford, Connecticut. The 4,000-square-foot, one-story school house, for children between two and eight, costs only \$14 a square foot exclusive of site preparation.

If a state determines that its needs for additional facilities for early childhood programs will be substantial, it might examine carefully and consider revision of existing legislation and regulations related to classroom space. Problems presented in some states by unclear or seemingly unrealistic fire, safety, and building codes have made it extremely costly to develop needed new facilities for expanded day care and child development services. The success of Head Start programs in nonschool space suggests that—with full recognition of the complications involved—the time has come for code revision.

11EW's Office of Child Development is now conducting a study of licensing processes for state and local day care in each of the 50 states. It is anticipated that the study will provide information to assess the level at which adequate protection of children can be assured while maintaining reasonable standards, and will culminate -by the end of 1971—in a suggested licensing code, Obviously, such a code would have important implications for current state practices with regard to both day care and preprim ay education.



6!

funding state early childhood programs

Effective early childhood education will cost money. Although some of the alternatives outlined in this report are lower in cost than full-scale classroom programs, any movement by the states into this field will demand the reallocation of current funds or an increase in the total educational budget. Hard decisions about funding priorities must be made. And there will be opposition. In some states there is already evidence that elementary and secondary teachers and groups with other program concerns—fearing loss of funds for their interests—will fight extension of early childhood programs.

There are conflicting approaches espoused by experts in the field. On the one hand, for example, the National Educational Finance Project, directed by Dr. R. L. Johns of the University of Florida, argues that the states have the fiscal capacity to provide full support for statewide kindergarten and prekindergarten programs. The first step. according to the Project, must be to restructure their financial base and to allocate the increased revenue to the schools. On the other hand, a preliminary assumption of a special study being conducted in Massachusetts is that a compulsory state-financed early childhood education program requiring a major redistribution of education resources is neither necessary nor feasible. The study anticipates that the bulk of financing for early childhood education in the foresecable future will continue to come from private sources. The study, being done by Harvard's Program in Clinical Psychology and Public Practice, has been funded by the Massachusetts Advisory Council on Education to assist in the effective implementation of kindergarten programs in all Massachusetts school districts, as will be required by 1973.

It is our contention, however, that to implement programs in the near future a state will have to work within its present tax base and that, to launch an effective program of any kind, there must be clear and substantial commitment to state funding of the effort. Important initiatives can be promoted with small state grants and incentive programs, and these must be considered in the early stages. A full-fledged statewide program, however, will thrive only with the certainty and support provided by consistent state aid. Our approach, suggesting various program patterns of ranging costs, is intended to fit varying state needs and capabilities.

Current State Efforts and Costs

Thirty-eight states provide some form of state aid to kindergarten; of those 28 allocate the aid through the state foundation program. Per pupil expenditure in 1969-70 ranged from \$17 in Nebraska to \$400 in Iowa and \$900 for North Carolina's pilot program. Six states (California, Connecticut, Iowa, New Jersey, Virginia and Washington) provide some form of support for prekindergarten programs.

There are new directions under consideration at the state level. New York Commissioner of Education Nyquist has recommmended that the state include kindergarten and prekindergarten education in the state foundation program, and the New York State Board of Regents has proposed that state prekindergarten programs be available to all four-year-olds by 1971. Maryland's Governor Marvin Mandel has backed a plan to accommodate all the state's three- and four-year-olds in preschool centers by 1980. An initial \$2 million is being requested from the Maryland Legislature this year for a coordinated pilot program in seven centers. In Florida, the 1971 legislature will consider a proposal to provide early childhood compensatory education for children between the ages of three and eight through special annual grants to school districts.

For state by state information on early childhood funding and personnel programs, see Appendix C.

The variation in what the states are currently spending per child in public schools and in the costs of the variety of possible approaches to early childhood education is so great that any single cost estimate would be misleading. However, if a state expects to provide three hours of education in a classroom each day of a school year for a preschool child, a reasonable estimate of operating costs would be one



63

ODERATING COST ESTIMATES OF ALTERNATIVE PROCRAM APPROACHES PER 1000 CHILDREN

ILDREN		Combined Total	(3) \$85,000 to \$100,000 or \$85 to \$100 per	child.						(8) \$190,000 or \$190 per	child.									
ER 1,000 CH		\$ 100,000	demonstration/ nters (1) and day funds (2) would	d \$100 per child ,000 to \$100,000.																
PPROACHES P		290,000	(3) Combination of demonstration/ parent education centers (1) and day care supplementars funds (2) would	cost between \$85 and \$100 per child and total about \$85,000 to \$100,000						(4) Parent, child program like tov	library for 70%	of 4s and 5s, \$100 ner child. Total:	\$70,000							
PROGRAM A	Cast Per 1.000 Children	\$70,000	(2) Adequate day care for 17^{σ_n} of families not able	to afford it. On sliding scale, at average of \$350 per child for 170	families as sup- plement to current family day care	expenditure to	help meet total cost of \$1500 per	child. Total: \$59,500		(6) Adequate day care for 17% of	families not able	to afford it. On sliding scale at	average of \$350	per child for 170	namilies as sup-	family day care	expenditure to	help meet total	costs of \$1500 per	\$59,5(R)
ALTERNATIVE	Cost Per 1	\$50,000								(5) Support and extend Head	Start for 10% of	needy voungsters not being served	by providing \$500	supplement per	Child toward	\$50,000.				
OPERATING COST ESTIMATES OF ALTERNATIVE PROGRAM APPROACHES PER 1,000 CHILDREN		\$30,000	(1) demonstration/ parent education centers with diag-	\$25 per child for all 0-4-year-old children. Total:	\$25,000.															
ING COST ES		\$10,000								(7) Assist 3% of children to attend	private preschools	and/or kinder- gartens at aver-	age of \$300 per	child. Total	\$9 ,0000.					
OPERAT		Age Group Serred	æ	l-vear-olds				3-vear-olds	3-ve.ir-olds	4-vear-olds					- Annualda					



and one-half times the average cost for an elementary school child. This estimate assumes that the pupil-teacher ratio probably should not exceed ten to one but that only one out of two teachers would be a professional. The second person could be a trained assistant. Further, this estimate would include only classroom instruction. Any additional services, such as health, home coordinators or psychological services would entail additional costs. Since there are a variety of less expensive alternatives, however, a reasonable guess at the minimal cost to the state would be one half of this figure or about three-fourths of the cost of each elementary school pupil.

The cost of such a program must be viewed in context, however, because the expenditures of money on early childhood education can and probably will reduce other later costs in the educational system and elsewhere. Good education at a young age is always less costly and better for the child than remedial education later. An early childhood program can also provide employment for a number of people who otherwise would be forced to accept welfare.

The key factor in cost consideration, however, is the possibility of alternative approaches which would be substantially less expensive than the provision of classroom programs for all youngsters. The following examples illustrate the kinds of programs a state could undertake with an indication of cost per 1,000 children. They should prove helpful in a state's initial examination of the cost implications of combining various program alternatives. They are, however, very general estimates intended only to provide rough cost outlines.

- 1. Maintain children's education centers for parents of all children below the age of four. These centers would include diagnostic services to assess the development of the child and to provide special assistance for parents whose children have special problems. These centers could probably operate for a cost of about \$25 per child or about \$25,000 per 1,000 children from 0 to 4. This cost does not include the substantial capital expenditure need to start up such a program.
- 2. Provide for supervising and assisting day care centers for children below the age of four whose parents need such services. A reasonable estimate of actual cost is from \$1,200 to \$1,800 per child in most areas, or an average of about \$1,500.

Across the nation about one-third of the mothers of children stringer than six are working. At least one-half of these mothers, or 17 percent of families, would need some assistance to afford adequate day care service. So, about 170 of every 1,000 parents would need



some assistance. Many families are now spending \$15 to \$20 a week or \$1,000 a year on non-licensed day care or babysitting, and with some supplementary assistance could afford adequate day care. If the state provided such assistance on a sliding scale ranging from \$200 to \$500, the average support would be \$350 per child. This support might go to the parent to use at some private licensed center or as matching funds to a federally-supported program or to an industrially-supported program. The total state expenditure to offer adequate day care for the 17 percent of families needing extra assistance would be \$59,500 per 1,000 children.

- 3. These two recommendations might be combined. Then the cost of providing demonstration parent education diagnostic centers for all children younger than four and additionally assisting 17 percent of these families to obtain adequate day care would be about \$85,000 per 1,000 children or close to \$100 per child. With such an expenditure, the state would be providing services for 100 percent of the parents of children under four and supplementary day care assistance for those least likely to be able to obtain it on their own.
- 4 Provide a parent/child program like the toy library for at least 76 percent of parents of four-year-old children. If a state does not have a kindergarten program, this would include five-year-olds. The cost of this program should not exceed \$100 per child or \$70,000 per 1,000 children.
- 5. Support and expand Head Start type programs. Assuming that these programs are serving the children with the greatest need, the state would give them maximum support. Assume furthermore that 20 percent of the state population qualifies for Head Start on the basis of income level. But of this number, one half will need full day care services instead of a Head Start program. So 10 percent of four-and five-year-olds would be best served by a Head Start program. The average cost of a Head Start program is \$1,000 per child. If th. state contributed \$500 per child for 100 children, the cost would be \$50,000 per 1,000 children.
- 6. Support and expand day care service for four- and five-year-olds. The same logic applies to day care for fours and fives as for children under four discussed in recommendation two above. Seventeen percent of families (170 of every 1,000) would benefit from supplementary assistance averaging \$350 per child (one child of this age group per family), for a total cost of \$59,500 per 1,000 children.
- 7. Provide minimal assistance so that children can attend private nursery schools and kindergartens, particularly if no



public programs exist. In many instances this will be for the convenience of the parents, and they should receive only the minimal support which would otherwise have been provided for a parent child program under recommendation four above. In other instances, however, a half-day mursery program may be indicated for the physical or mental health of parent or child, and state support could be as high as \$500 per child. Perhaps three percent of four- and five-year-olds (30 of every 100) would take advantage of this aspect of a state program. The average per child expenditure might be \$300, or \$9,000 for every 1,000 youngsters.

8. Recommendations four, five, six and seven might be combined. In such a comprehensive state program, the total cost for each 1,000 children of the four- and five-year-old age group would be:

(4) Support of a parent, child program for 70% of
age group\$70,000
(5) Support Head Start for 10% of age group 50,000

(7) Support for nursery programs for 3% of age group... 9,000 The total approaches \$190,000 per 4,000 children or almost \$200 per child for four- and five-year-olds.

This discussion of costs is based upon the assumptions that the federal government is going to continue to fund Head Start and initiate the funding of day care programs for low-income groups and that the combination of the two programs will serve all low-income families that qualify. The discussion also highlights the need for a careful study of a state's needs and resources. The estimates of cost are based upon national statistics, and in some instances they are open to question. Because the use of health and welfare funds, educational funds, and federal grants of various kinds would be anticipated, any estimate of the need for additional money would have to be carefully examined.

It appears, however, that a state could insure some kind of program for all of the children under the age of six and upgrade the services for all child in for an expenditure of \$100 to \$200 per child.

Principles and Techniques

The fundamental point is that the various states must develop sound principles of financing for their early childhood education programs. Basic elements of a sound financing effort include: (1) provisions to insure that early childhood education is treated as an integral part of the state's overall education program; (2) insurance that early





childhood education will r the subject to the inconsistencies of categorical aid but will benefit from a steady flow of state funds; and (3) provisions which make it possible to provide funds on an equalization basis so that particularly needy districts can enjoy quality programs.

Within this framework states should consider some or all of the following techniques:

- 1. Inclusion of early childhood programs in the state foundation formula, if the foundation program has preven to be an effective method of distributing state aid. Such an approach would reflect the three principles noted above and utilize an established funding pattern. Of course if a state has no foundation program or that program has had only limited impact, this approach would not be recommended. If a state adopts an administrative structure for early childhood education that is outside of the stace department of education, this approach might complicate coordination efforts.
- 2. Establishment of a special early childhood education fund within the state's education budget, if there is not an effective foundation program and no immediate plans for establishing one. Although the almost random proliferation of special funds (in 1967 there were at least 441 funds making up the school finance programs of the 50 states) suggests confusion and even contradiction of legislative intent, the initiation of a special early childhood education fund would assure some priority to the financing of the



68

program. Special provisions should be made for equalization and every effort made to assure some continuity in funding levels 5 om year to year.

- 3. Establishment of a special state fund to include all expenditures for early childhood programs (including education, health, nutrition, day care, etc.). Moneys from such a general fund would be allocated to one central state agency administering all early childhood programs, if that alternative for state administrative structure were adopted. Such an approach would effectively encourage consolidation and coordination of the variety of existing state programs for very young children. Being different from the traditional approach by which funds are allocated by category to specialized agencies (education, health, welfare, etc.), such a funding pattern would not be advisable if early childhood programs were to be administered by the state department of education or other existing agencies.
- 4. Provision for construction funds for early childhood facilities. It construction funds for elementary-secondary needs are already provided by the state, such funding provisions should be extended to include early childhood facilities. If construction funds are not now provided, a special early childhood education construction program should be initiated.
- 5. Provision to ensure maximum use of federal matching funds and adoption of the principle by the state agency administering early childhood programs that priority will be given to plans using matching funds or joint federal or other public
- r private funding. In California, for example, the legislature in 1965 established the State Preschool Educational Program by amending the Welfa e and Institutions Code to declare that "preschool programs with a strong educational component... constitute an essential component of public social services." The legislature instructed the State Department of Social Welfare to contract with the State Department of Education to provide federa, welfare funding to a statewide system of preschool programs. The programs are for three- to five-vear-olds from low income families and operate under standards adopted by the State Board of Education. Seventy five percent of program costs come through Title IV of the Social Security Act and 25 percent through state budgetary appropriation. No parent fees or local funds are used. The average cost per child is \$1,049.

In Colorado, it has been proposed that a statewide system of preschool programs for three- and four-year-olds, funded at about \$1,000 per child, could be initiated if the State Department of Education were



69

to contract with the Saate Department of Social Services. Federal matching money from Title IV of the Social Security Act could be obtained on a 3-1 matching basis. If the state provided only \$300,000, the federal funds would total \$900,000 and the beginning package would be \$1.2 million. This could then be supplemented by local funds, so that the proportionate funding would be 50 percent federal, 25 percent state and 25 percent local.

Such efforts are also important in that they provide, through state initiative, for an educational component in what might otherwise be custodial day care programs.

Legislation proposed in 1971 in Florida for an "Early Childhood Compensatory Education Program" would provide funds for which local school boards could apply to set up special programs for disadvantaged children. The proposal includes two important features: (1) it would require that all applications "demonstrate that the school board has fully utilized all other sources of revenue, and the assistance of all volunteer aid offered by individuals and public and private organizations . . . and has effectively coordinated the same" and, (2) it would give priority "to plans which will allow for matching funds or for joint funding from the federal government or other public and private sources."

- 6. Development of a program of incentive grants to state colleges, universities, junior and community colleges for offering graduate, undergraduate and associate degree specializations in early childhood education.
- 7. Adoption of the principle that salaries for early childhood teachers should be equal to those of elementary school teachers and provisions established to provide whatever state support may be provided for elementary teachers' salaries to early childhood teact ers.
- 8. Provision of parent education as an integral part of the state early childhood and/or adult education programs. Funds for parent training might be included in alternatives one, two or three outlined above. It would also be possible to provide funds through the state adult education program. In California, for example, the Education Code authorizes programs of adult education through child observation classes, parent nursery and child development classes. For the purposes of state support, the parents of children are regular adult education students and generate average daily attendance for reimbursement. State funds are provided at a rate of \$0.35 per parent hour of instruction.



70

implementation

In the face of the several alternatives outlined in this report, the obvious question is what next? What steps should a state devise to insure consideration of the key issues in early childhood development, to establish priorities and to initiate programs?

The first priority must be to examine the adequacy of the state's current early childhood programs, in light of the directions and considerations suggested in this report, at a prominent level of government. Public attention and political influence must be devoted to early childhood programs if they are to reflect the needs of the state and to operate effectively.

As pointed out elsewhere in this report, a fundamental difficulty in maximizing the impact of existing efforts and—of course—in assuring future effectiveness is the duplication and competition caused by uncoordinated funding sources. The primary concern which will affect all programs—regardless of which alternative approaches are selected—is the effectiveness of the administrative agency in bringing about cooperative and complementary programs and funding. If the state's examination of the implications of this report is initiated at the highest level of government, the ultimate chances of success will be that much greater.

There are several possible first steps. The governor might call a conference on early childhood development to examine the implications of this report. Or he might ask an existing state agency (the state department of education or social services or health) to sponsor such a study of the state's needs. He might also recommend to the



legislature that public hearings be held on the issue and that the legislative council be asked to report to the legislature on the implications of the various alternatives here outlined. Or all of these actions might be undertaken simultaneously.

Whatever technique is adopted to focus public attention on early childhood development, provisions should be made to collect the information on which decisions will have to be based. Each state should have at least the following data:

- (1) The number of youngsters—by age—currently in day care, preschool, kindergarten or other preprimary programs and the number not being served at all. Five-year projections should also be made.
- (2) An estimate of the number of families now desiring day care but not being served and the number in five years.
- (3) An estimate of the number of children—by age—with special needs—physical, mental or emotional handicaps and the number now being served
- (4) The availability of early childhood personnel.
- (5) Estimates of funds available for all types of early childhood programs from all sources—local, state and federal.
- (6) Facilities available if needed and eligible under current state codes.
- (7) Survey of all existing programs—whatever the funding source—by current administrative agency with a rough evaluation of the administrative effectiveness of those agencies.

Using such information, the educational and political leaders of the state—under the guidance of the governor and the state legislature—should be better able to asses, the implications of the various alternative approaches for the state's particular needs.

A major purpos of the governor's conference and/or legislative action should be to identify an interagency committee to be responsible for following up on the steps necessary to develop and implement a state program. Such a committee—comprising at least representatives of the state departments of education, health and social services, the governor's office, the legislative education committees, the Head Start program and parents—should be responsible for drafting an implementation plan including a specific timetable, the gathering of additional data which may be necessary and identifying any legislation determined to be needed.

The key decision, of course, will be the structure to be adopted for the administration of early childhood development programs. The conflicts and vested incrests in this field are already well established, and strong gubernatorial and legislative leadership will be required on this issue. The alternative program and funding approaches will be largely determined by this decision. It is probable that once the machinery for administering a stat, program is agreed upon and legislation, if necessary, one cted, that agency will assume further responsibility for program development.

The Education Commission of the States stands ready to assist the states in at least the following ways: (a) development of model legislation in key areas: (b) the identification of consultants to assist with legislative and administrative matters and program development; (c) the provision of consultants for selected problems on a limited basis; and (d) the continued provision of research information on best practices in early childhood education across the country.

appendix a: educational programs and goals for children

There are mixed opinions on how to start the educational process that will contribute to the development of young adults who can solve a variety of problems and are willing to try to solve them.

Some educators and psychologists who generally follow the psychological concepts of B. F. Skinter of Harvard University believe that the best approach is to state objectives in very explicit terms. Such as:

The child can count to ten.

The child can name nine colors.

The child can name four shapes.

The child can demonstrate an understanding of over, under, between, beside, etc.

The child can add and subtract combinations of numbers up to teal

The objectives may all be very academic—related to language and mathematics or they might cover a wider range of activities but the crucial element is that they are explicit and stated in behavioral terms.

Once the objectives have been stated those educators and psychologists believe that the program should be systematically designed to accomplish those objectives. One such program stresses language and mathematics. The core of the program is three small group sessions where teachers present carefully designed lessons to teach specific objectives. This program does not stress she need to help children maintain or develop a healthy self-concept. The developers feel this will follow from a feeling of accomplishments the child has from a castemic achievement.

Another kind of program that is built around a carefully defined set of objectives—but using different teaching methods—is illustrated by the token reinforcement programs.

The idea is that children learn best when they receive tangible rewards. But no sing the ward, such as a grade, is valued to all of the children. Therefore, in the system, when a child accomplishes a learning task or behaves in some desired way, he receives a token that can later be exchanged for something the child values—some favorite activity or food, or even an extra play period.

A similar approach uses a menu of reinforcers; that is, after a child has completed a desired task he can point to the particular reward that he wants in a way that is similar to selecting food from a menu.

Another g, oup of educators who are developing model programs believe that the use of specific objectives is a useful device but is too limited. They stress language development, concept formation, and problem solving but



are not as concerned about the specific content that is covered. Within limits, what the child learns, i.e., to count, to work a puzzle, to paint, to play a game, to say the ABC's, or to name animals is not so significant as the process that is involved. They want to help children learn how to learn so they stress problem solving or discovery learning. They also believe that considerable attention should be given to helping children either maintain or develop a healthy self-concept as it relates to learning and school. They reason that the schools not only have not done enough to develop healthy self-concepts but have actually been harmful by teaching some children that they are inferior because of their background or because they do not do well in school. Therefore, these educators stress individual learning and allow the child to set his own pace. They avoid using rewards and punishments such as grades or tokens and stress the use of self-rewarding activities—things children enjoy doing for their own sake.

This group of educators are more inclined to follow the theories of Piaget and Bruner than Skinner. The third general group is even more oriented toward the child growth and development theories. These program developers recognize the need for cognitive or intellectual development but they place a greater stress on such things as socialization, physical development and creativity. They also stress the process—learning how to learn rather than the content. They typically do not define their objectives in explicit behavioral terms because they do not believe that such objectives are appropriate.

These three general positions on objectives and approaches usually apply to classroom activities for three or four hours a day but they also can be applied to other approaches that do not involve the child in a formal classroom activity; for example, programs for parents who in turn teach their children at home, or home visitation programs, a poble classrooms, or educational television, or a combination of these. In each instance the approach has a bearing on the objectives and methods but the three general positions remain the same.

It should be obvious that with this variation in the thinking of the leading educators and psychologists who are involved in developing model programs* that no single set of specific objectives would satisfy the "experts" but in many instances these differences are matters of approach and stress.

- 1. They all recognize the importance of early interectual development.
- They all recognize that intellectual development is only a part of early childhood education.
- They all recognize the importance of individualizing the program to respond to the ability and needs of individual children.

Regardless of the specific objectives or the particular approach most of the authorities would agree that early childhood education programs should help young children develop:

1. the senses and perceptual acuity,



^{*}For a much more detailed analysis of difference see, Eleanor Maclehy and Mariam Zellner, Experiments in Primary Education, Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Inc., New York, 1970.

- linguistic competence: i.e., grammatical capacity, vocabulary, articulation, and extensive use of expressed language,
- concept formation ability, i.e. understand relation concepts like over, under, between, beside, and categories in classified systems like fruit, vegetables, and food,
- 4. the ability to note discrepancies,
- 5 the ability to anticipate consequences,
- 6. the ability to deal with abstractions, i.e., numbers, letters, and rules,
- 7. the ability to take the point of view of someone else,
- 8. the ability to make interesting associations,
- 9. the ability to plan and carry out multi-stepped activities,
- 10. the ability to use resources effectively.
- the ability to attend to a task and still be aware of other activities, and,
- 12. the ability to solve a variety of problems, i.e., one's personal problems and problems involving other people.

All of the objectives mentioned above are cognitive or intellectual objectives. In addition to these most of the authorities agree that it is important to help young children develop social skills and a healthy self-concept. Some of the social objectives would be to develop the child's ability to:

- 1. get and maintain the attention of adults in socially-acceptable ways,
- 2. use adults as resources,
- 3. express both affection and hostility to adults,
- 4. lead and to follow peers,
- 5. express both affection and hostility to peers, and
- compete with peers.

Some of these social objectives are closely related to how the child sees himself. So in some instances there is not a clear distinction between developing social skills and a healthy self-concept. Some of the objectives in helping children maintain or develop a healthy self-concept would be to:

- 1. make better estimates of their ability to perform a given task;
- make realistic statements about themselves and their racial, cultural, or ethnic group. Statements will be both positive and negative, but more positive than negative;
- 3 be more willing to take reasonable risks of failure when confronted with a problem they can probably solve;
- after answering a question or offering a solution for a problem, they
 will make more realistic statements about the probability of being
 right or wrong;
- 5. express feelings or opinions more frequently, with fewer non-committal responses, fewer stereotypes, and a greater variety of responses to such questions as, "How do you feel bout _____?" or "What do you think about _____?";



- express themselves more freely in writing, painting or picture-drawing;
- learn from errors and corrections rather than feeling put down or rejected:
- be able to express in verbal and non-verbal ways feelings of joy. hoppiness, fear and anger;
- 9. be able to use failure in a productive way;
- 10. take credit for accomplishments and failures;
- be able to work within limitations and make the most of the limited situation.

It is impossible to discuss educational objectives without giving some attention to how these objectives are accomplished. All of the authorities agree on the importance of developing programs that will respond to individual needs and ability and will allow children to progress at different rates. This means that the objectives cannot be stated in fixed or absolute terms such as "the five-year-old child should be able to name the letters in the alphabet." This kind of objective is not realistic for several reasons

Human beings and particularly young children vary greatly in their rate of growth and development as well as in their potential to learn. For example, most teachers of three- and four-year-old children assume that a child's ability or willingness to talk is related to his ability to comprehend language and, furthermore, that early talkers will be early readers. We know now that there is very little relationship between how much a child talks and how much he can understand. Furthermore, early language development does not necessarily predict early reading ability.

Because a young child is a product of a certain culture and a certain life style, children from different backgrounds have learned different things that are vital to them but not necessarily the things the school values and looks for in a child. The children from middle-class families come the closest to having the prerequisites the school usually expects, but many other children do not. A child may have learned how to care for himself all day on a city street or to look after younger brothers and sisters. Or a child may come to school with a well-developed language but it is Navaho, or Spanish, or different from the English used in school. We cannot expect these children to achieve the same objectives as those set for a child who comes to school speaking the language of the school and tuto ed previously in some of the things the school expects.

The mistakes made by most schools in this respect have been repeated over and over. A child comes to classrooms with a limited language ability in standard English or he does not know how to discriminate among colors. The teacher might say, "Go get the red book from the shelf." The child appears dull because he doesn't understand; the teacher wonders if he is retarded. She asks a psychologist to test him. The psychologist tests the child in English on his ability, among other things, to identify colors or name shapes. Of course, the child can't—that is why the teacher wanted him tested—and



77

thus, he is considered retarded. This situation may sound unreasonable—and it is; but such episodes do happen often. For example: The first racial analysis of California's 65,000 mentally retarded school children disclosed in January (1970) found hat 2.14 percent of all the Spanish-surnamed children and an even higher proportion—3.6 percent—of all the Negro children have been funneled into classes for the noneducable so classified. This misplacement happens because of a preconceived notion of what the child should know when he enters school and testing the child in the language of the school when the child speaks another language or dialect.

One of the objectives of early childhood education must be to prevent this kind of tragedy from occurring. Over half of those Spanish-surnamed and Negro children in mentally-retarded classrooms in California probably have the ability to be in regular classrooms but have been mis-classified. The cost in human and financial resources is staggering.

This type of education, however, should not be thought of as compensatory. It is just good education. If a boy who grew up on a ranch in Wyoming wants to learn to sail, the instructor does not develop a compensatory educational program for him because of the lack of water in Wyotaing not does be compare the boy's achievements to those of the son of a sailor. The instructor teaches the boy from Wyoming how to sail and measures the boy's progress in terms of what he knew when he started



۲,

appendix b: summary of proposed federal legislation

The Comprehensive Child Development A t (H.R. 6748) was introduced in the House in March, 1971, by nearly 100 Republicans and Democrats including John Brademas (D--Indiana) and Orval Hansen (R--Idaho). Drafted after lengthy consultation with interest groups from similar legislation introduced in the 91st Congress (H.R. 19662), the 92nd Congress version of the bit does not provide any substantial degree of state control over early childhood programs. Instead, cities, counties, units of general local government and private non-profit agencies, as well as states, may be designated as p. inte sponsors of early childhood services within their respective areas States would receive last preference for such designation under the bill.

Although the measure has received wide bi-partisan support, it is anticipated that attempts will be made as the bill moves toward passage to enhance the state role in providing early childhood services. The fill provides for the consolidation of several of the largest federal early childhood programs and coordination for number of other efforts, with the Office of Child Development in HEW and goals as the focal point for the administration and coordination of early childhood programs.

Children from any economic level could participate in programs sponsored under this legislation, although fees would be charged according to ability to pay. Allocation of funds to states would take into account the number of youngsters below the poverty line, the number of children under six years old and the number of children of working mothers in each state.

The bill also provides assistance for personnel training and costs of acquiring or building facilities. In addition, a National Center for Child Development and Education would be established to coordinate research efforts and would be funded at \$20 million annually.

Senator Mondale and a 30-member bipartisan group have introduced the Comprehensive Child Development Act in the Senate as well (S. 1512) as an amendment to the Economic Opportunity Act. The Mondale version of the bill authorizes \$2 billion for FY 73, \$4 billion for FY 74, and \$7 billion for FY 75. The House bill does not indicate a specific amount, but instead authorizes "such funds as may be necessary."

A bill stressing community planning and operational involvement has been introduced in the Senate by Jacob Javits (R-N.Y.). Entitled Comprehen-

sive Community Child Development Act of 1971 (S. 4577), the bill provides for representative Community Child Care Councils, designated by the Secretary of HEW, which would plan community services and coordinate them and for State Child Care Councils which would review community plans, coordinate services within the state, and provide technical assistance to operating programs. The Office of Child Development in HEW would become the single federal agency responsible for overseeing major programs for children. Authorizations for FY 1973 are \$900 million; FY 1974, \$1.8 billion; and, for FY 1975, \$2.8 billion;

Senator Birch Bayh (D-Indiana) has proposed the Universal Child Care and Development Act of 1971 to set up a national network of child care centers. Like both the Brademas and Javits bills, the Bayh proposal includes the provision of broad services. The bill would establish public institutions called Child Service Districts to provide infant care, comprehensive preschool programs, day care and night care services to aid working parents and emergency care. Each district would be small enough to reflect the specific needs of its residents. Boards of directors would be elected from among parents of children served to insure direct community participation. State and local governments would be responsible for developing plans for district boundaries. To some degree, the Bayh bill also provides for program consolidation at the federal level. The bill calls for appropriations of \$2 billion for FY 1971, \$4 billion for 1972 and \$6 billion for 1973.

Also in the Senate, Louisiana's Russell Long has introduced a proposal to establish a Federal Child Care Corporation which would provide services, such as technical assistance, but not funds, to public, nonprofit or proprietary agencies running or planning to establish child care services. Initial capital to set up a revolving fund would come from a \$50 million Treasury loan to be repaid with interest from fees for service. Any facilities meeting the standards outlined in the bill would be eligible and aparently would not be subject to licensing or other regulations imposed by states or localities.

appendix c: state funding and personnel p grams in early childhood development

Information in the following tables has been compiled from questionnaires sent to the states. Responses were received from 50 states, American Samoa, Guam and Puerto Rico. Included are: Table I—State contacts who submitted the information on which the tables are based; Table II—State funding of kindergarten and prekindergarten programs; Table III—Program administration and personnel development; and Table IV—Certification requirements and administration.

Eight states (including Maryland, Massachusetts and West Virginia which require programs by 1973) and Guam mandate school districts to offer kindergarten programs to all who want the 1. In Colorado, the Board of Education accredits school systems only it kindergartens are offered. At least 35 states, American Samoa and Puerto Rico have enacted legislation permitting kindergartens. Thirty-eight states, American Samoa and Puerto Rico provide some form of state aid to kindergartens; of those 28 allocate the aid through the state foundation program; and when North Carolina's pilot effort is fully funded, aid will be provided as part of the regular state support program. Per pupil expenditure in 1969-70 ranged from \$17 in Nebraska to \$400 in Iowa and \$900 for the pilot North Carolina program.

Six stales and American Samoa provide some form of support for pre-kindergarten programs. Connecticut provides \$200 per pupil. Iowa allocates \$780 per pupil to the Department of Social Welfare to use as matching funds for federal day care programs. New Jersey includes four-year-olds in its state-supported kindergarten programs. In Virginia, the State Departments of Education. Health and Welfare support prekindergarten programs. There is special state funding (\$250 per pupil) for prekindergarten programs in 12 central city areas in Washington State. And in California, \$1,000 to \$1,400 may be expended per prekindergarten pupil.

At least 26 states offer some other state-supported services to pre-first graders, such as medical and dental care, nutritional programs or special programs for the handicapped.

State Certification Requirements for Early Childhood Personnel

Only 11 states require state certification for day care personnel, and in three of these (Connecticut, Maryland and New Jersey) the State Department of Education is the certifying agency for day care as well as all other early childhood positions requiring certification. In the other seven



Ŗ1

(Indiana, Massachusetts, Michigan, Nevada, Pennsylvania, Oregon and West Virginia), a different agency (the Public Health Department, the Department of Social Services or Welfare Department) certifies day care personnel.

Forty-seven states have certification requirements for kindergarten teachers and administrators, but only six require certification for kindergarten paraprofessionals. There are certification requirements for prekindergarten teachers and administrators in 20 states and for prekindergarten paraprofessionals in only two. The State Board of Education is the certifying agency in all instances except those five noted above and except in Illinois, which has a State Teacher Certification Board; New York, where the cities of Buffalo and New York are responsible in conjunction with the State Board of Education; and in Texas, which has the Texas Education Agency for Special Education Certification.

In 31 states an elementary certificate is applicable for kindergarten and/or prekindergarten teaching, though usually with an additional early childhood endorsement.

State Administrative Structure

The State Department of Education is the sole administrative agency responsible for kindergarten programs in 37 states and for prekindergarten in six. In five states the State Education Department shares responsibility with one or more other in agencies for kindergarten administration and in ten for prekindergarten. Where prekindergarten programs are not the responsibility of the State Department of Education, the State Department of Welfare or Social Services or Health has the sole or shares responsibility for them.

Only six states indicated that some form of formal coordination among administrative agencies exists; 13 classified the existing coordination as informal or a combination of informal and advisory. Two states listed their administrative system as advisory only.

State Programs for Personnel Development

Only two states (Idaho and North Dakota) and American Samoa have no post-secondary programs in early childhood education. Six have no colleges with degree programs; and 27 have no junior or community colleges with associate degree programs. Massachusetts offers the greatest number of all types of programs with New York and Virginia having the second greatest. Massachusetts has over 109 colleges with degree programs; New York has 24 and Virginia 16; Massachusetts has just fewer than 100 junior or community colleges offering associate degree programs; Virginia has 16 and New York has 10; Massachusetts has more than 250 colleges with some work in early childhood education; Virginia has 32 and all New York State University colleges offer some early childhood training.



82

Table 1 -- Contacts for State Information

- Alabama O P Richardson State Supt of Education, State Dept of Education State Office Building Montgomery 36104
- Alaska:--Mrs. Margaret K. Justice, Elem. Education Consultant, Alaska Dept. of Education. Alaska Office Building. Pouch F. Juneau. Alaska 39801
- American Sailloa Dr. Betty Johnston, Director, Early Child hood, Government of American Samoa, Department of Education, Pago Pago, 96920
- Arizona Harvey Stein Department Assoc Supt. Department of Education. Capitol Building Phoenix 85007

 Arkansas A. W. Ford Commissioner, State Dept. of Education.
- Cation Little Rock 72201
 California Al M Loeb Program Budget Manager. Dept of Finance Library and Courts Building Sacramento 99914
- Colorado Virginia Plunkett, Colorado Department of Education Coffax and Sherman Denver 80203
- Connecticut—Dr. Harriet C. Nash, Consultant. Early Child hood Education, State Department of Education, State Office Building Hartford 06115 Defaults - Robert C. Hawkins, Director, Flem, Education
- Defaware Robert C Hawkins Director Elem Education
 Diept of Public Instruction P O Box 697, Dover
 19901
- Florida Minnie Lee Rowland Administrator Early Childhood Education, Department of Education, Tallahas see Florida 32304
- Georgia Mary J. Gordon, Early Childhood Education Consultant. State Office Building, Atlanta 30334
- Guam Department of Education, P. O. Box DE Agana 96910
- Hawaii Department of Education, Queen Sifuokaini Ruild ing 1390 Miller Street "Honolulu 96813 Idaho - Roy E. Truby, Administrative Asst., Idaho State Of
- fice didg. Boise

 Hinois Dr. Earl W. Moins, Dr., Dept. of Curriculum Devel
- Opment, 325 S. Fifth Street Springfield 62704.
 Indiana Miss Barbara J. Anderson, Governor's Office of Community. Affairs. 215. N. Senate. Indianapolis
- 46204 lowa - Dr. Oliver T. Himley, Chief, Title I, E.S.E.A., Grimes
- State Office Building Des Moines 50319

 Kansas C M Sherik Asst Commissioner of Education 120 E 10th St Topeka 06612
- Kentucky Patrick West Jr. State Department of Education Frankfort 40601
- Louisiana State Dept of Education Mrs. Vera (and Supervisor of Elem Education, P. O. Box 44064, Baton Rouge 70804
- Maine Dorothy Russell, State Dept of Education Augusta 04330
- Maryland Fred H. Spigter: Jr., Administrative Officer of Education, State House: Annapolis 21404 Massachusetts: Barbara L. King State Supervisor, Kinder
- garten Education, 182 Tremont St. Boston D2111 Michigan - William F. Pierce, Deputy State Supt. Box 420. Lansing 48902
- Eansing 48902 Minnesota - Miss Corinna Moncada Early Childhood Education Consultant Dept of Education, Cintennal Office Building St. Paul 55101
- Mississippi Troy D. White Supervisor of Elementary Education: State Dent of Education: P. D. Box 771, Jackson 39205

- Missouri Dr. Arthur L. Mattery Commissioner, State Dept of Education, Jefferson City 65101
- Montana Dolores Cotburg, State Supt. of Public Instruction, Capitol Building, Helena 59501
- Nebraska Governor's Office, State Capitol Lincoln 68509
- Nevada John R. Gamble, Deputy Supt., State Dept. of Education, Carson City 89701
- New Hampshire Miss Cynthia E Mowles, Consultant, Early C 11hood Education, Department of Education, 410 State House Anney, Concord 03301
- New Jersey Mrs. Dorothy Gibson, Division of Curriculum and Instruction, N. J. State Dept. of Education, 225 West State Street, Trenton 08625
- New Merico Harry Wugalter, State Capitol Building, Santa Fe 8.7501
- New York.....Mrs. Dorotha M. Conklin. State Education Dept. Albany 12224
- North Carolina Dr. Craig Phillips State Supt. State Dept. of Public Instruction, Raleigh.
- North Dukota M. F. Peterson, Supt. of Public Instruction State Capitol, Bismarck 58501
- Ohio -- Eugene Wenger, State Department of Education 65 S Front Street, Columbus 43215
- Okiał oma Sally Augustine, State Dept of Education, Okiał oma City 73105
- Oregon Jean Spaulding, Oregon Board of Education, 300 Public Service Building, Safern 97310 Pennsylvania – Dr. John E. Kosoloski, Dir., Bureau of General and Academic Education, State Dept. of Educa
- eral and Academic Education, State Dept of Education, Box 911, Harrisburg 17126

 Puerto Rico Or Ramon Melfado, Secretary of Education
- Dept of Education, Hato Rey 00939

 Rhode Island William P. Robinson, Jr., State Dept of Education
- cation, Hayes St., Providence 02908 South Carolina "Janet Stanton, Supervisor of Early Child
- hood Education, S. C. State Dept of Education, 803 Rolfedge Building Columbia 29201 South Dakota: Charlotte Hauge, Early Childhood Consult ant. Box. 853. Nutrhern, State, Coffege, Aberdaan
- 57401
 ennessee Dr John E Cox. Tennessee Debt of Educa
- Tennessee Dr. John E. Cox. Tennessee Dept. of Education Cordell Hull Building Nashville, Tenr. 37219 Texas - Mrs. Jeannette Watson, Early Childhood Develop
- Texas Mrs. Jeannette Watson, Early Childhood Develop ment. Program. P. D. Box. 2418 Capitol Station. Austin 76011
- Ut. N. G. 11 mrs. Rowley 1400 University Club Building Sa't Lake City 84111
- Vermont Gerall H. Greemote Ex. Sec. Committee on Children and Youth. Riverside Building Montpeller 05602
- Virgini S. P. Johnson, Jr., State Dept. of Education, Rich mond 23216
- Washington—Robert Groeschell P. O. Box 527, Olympia 98501 West Virginia -- Arch A. Moore, Ur., Governor, Capitol, Char-
- leston 25305
 Wisconsin Department of Education 126 Langdon St Madison 53702
- Wyoming Mrs. Patricia G. Wunnicke, Coordinator of Public Information, Capitor Building, State Dept. of Education Cheyenne 82001

Table II - State Funding Effort:

	Long and St.		Land and Land	_	Kund	zpenditure trgerten	
State	+6.344.64	- Francisco	48,484	1968 1969	otal .	1968 1969	Punil 1969 1970
Alabama	P fin cities	MU PUBLA NO	5		No	one	
Alaska	P	State and provided to kindergatten as part of state four Lation program at one hulf amount for alamentary achool pupits	5 By Nov :		Not a	ulatile	
American Samo <i>a</i>	,	3. 4 and 5 year olds the taught together in village houses 3 000 low annotified. Plan to have all 5 500 grainfeed for program funded through Department of Education annotified by 1971. 1972. Budget from Jov. of American Samoa.	Entrance to level 1-1-6 by Dec 31	Prolimary four week program only in 1988 1989 Includes lunds for 3 4 and 5 year olds	\$84,000	FY 1971 Ingure averages \$50 per pupil	\$42
Arizon I	,	Local school district tax supports public kindergarteri programs. Department of Education has produced, kindergisteri guide and trick adultury support where needed.	5 by Dec 31		No	ne	
Arkansas	P	There is no state aid granted local shoot districts for kindergarten programs. There are from programs in the case from programs and 18 endergarten classrooms. Annual appropriation for research and teacher training. FX 1959. \$17,000. FX 1970. \$200.000.	5 by Oct 1		Nu	rije	
Casifornia	W	State aid as part of foundation program. ADA	4 years 9 months	\$78.3 million	\$245 million	Nora	e lable
Calarada	,	Required for accreditation but not required by statural State aid as part of foundation program.	Schools must accept at 6 years	feet	as adatoe	Varies district foundation pro	to district with ogram
Connéction	٠	Aid provided as part of foundation program	5 by Jan 3	\$113~Pion	\$145 m from	\$200	\$269
Da'awa a	,	State aid provided to kindergarten as part of foundation project	5 by Jan 1	\$135,908	\$16 million	\$182	\$103
Florida		Aid based upon approved instruc- tion units for kindargartan. No atata: ffort to primic e-prekindar gartin pilograms	5 on or before Jan 1	\$6 265 981	\$9 500 000	\$33,	\$335
			_				



7at 1968 1969		Par P. 1964 1963	1969 1970	Additional Information on Prekindelgariens	Other State Supported Services to Pre Fast Graders (Medical Dental Ptc.)
	None			No stare effort to promute	Some medical services and day care for ADC children
	None			Many agencies have been working in past two years to ask that legal school age be lowered to three Preschool would be opt-onal	Elecally - through public health and well fare services
	3 and 4 year olds gr	ouped with 5s			Fire medical and dendal care for all Sampans
	None				Tribugh Health and Welfain Department aume programs offer additional services
	No:-€			Norte	Through Mealth and Welfare
\$1€ million	≱18 milion	\$1 000 \$1 400	\$1 (00	Promotion of prekindergaten programs in collection with federal Napo Start publishes contest and Start President of the Migrant Day Gire Programs	Medical Social Services Nutrition
	Nor	•		E - 5 ition af pikkindergælfen but n i fungling	Day care
\$488,400	\$6:9 000	\$100	\$200	State provides consultants, evaluation, workshops, etc. State and provided in operated by social bours of esturation and meeting, exist local requirements (certified trachers nutlies min 180 days, not less than \$2.5 hours daily).	Nutridion all services provide if principh felteration and lunch programs. Other services a salishin through Walfare De, artiment
	Nor	13		Governor and State Briard of Education supports pathic prefinding reference and continued to the support of the	Through Hearl Start and Day Care pri grams. State Board of Mealth provide medical and dental assistance.
	No	·•			None



Table II - State Funding Effort (continued)

su. 1/1 1/1		A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	London above had	State Expenditure Kinderyasten				
Stare	+° 40 9	* Y. A. Late	+ Can	7. 1968 1969	1969 1470	196 8 : 369	Fujul 1969 1970	
Georga		No states a point for himsegeness. But has a stand Continuous have public house granters for all feet was only Alfanta are himself or a feet and a standard or a feet and a standard or a feet and a standard or a feet and a feet a feet a feet and a feet a feet a feet and a feet a			No	e		
Surm	4	Fertinally supported through ESEA Title I Head Start, 1,000 kinder garten students in 1969, 550 in 1970	5	\$191.247	\$244 597	\$391	\$415	
MdAJI	Р	98.2 per cent of the plan wid- page fat and 16.817 are encoded as kindergartens follow in land- private Cong 2615 after an among private programs.	5 he Dec. 31	\$4.8 m - 10 m	\$5.6 - 1000	\$ 03	\$4.1	
lidari o		A kongagater bill has teen into direct with dispersed would grower 100 person will see support to the seed of the			•	. •		
li Liregio s	Ņ	State aid as grant of the regional substate in business entire ligation. Make more published and formula based on equal ration formula.	5 or so two or Dec. 1	No or go	arat e	\$730	\$400	
lod 2. a	р	Rindergarses (1) - 1 fed stale for dsitting fill Stale (by leth end of Public less ruction within public school grant on half day per capital basis.	\$	3 6 1 milion	\$4.6 + illion	\$16	\$118	
1- 4-2		State aid proceded through 6 units tern program. State Descendent of program. State Descendent of program. State Descendent of 70 uils ters restors of units leader ship in supprading kindle-parties programm through sons that we serviced and interferoe in utsphrips.	5	\$125 m Tun	\$12.9 m Flori	\$029	\$, 15	
Ka-sas	F	State aid prosett part of foundation program, coursed as one half regular student.	S on nitebile Sect 1	internation	idacələr elin sist	enttals pripre	teg Ner Easis	
Ke-1,-ky		The element public kindergarters	5 by Dec 31		*.	,		

Prekindergarten Per Pupil 1968-1929 - 1969-1970 - 1968-1975 - 1979-1970	Additional Information on Prekindergartens	Other State Supported Services to Pre First Graders 'Medical' Dental etc.)		
None	Proposal for money before tiey slature	None		
Note	No promotion	Fine medical and dental examination		
Nove	400 eransmissally disablantaged of physically hardstaged 3 and 4 year obsise enrolled in special programs App 2003 and 4 year obsise in Head-5reat programs for which Department of Education is designed agency. Comprehense gifts a sale in process for education built to age 4.	Nove		
None	Department of Education is designed in prekindings for program Wilder next see program proposed will be available.	g		
Nune	State prumprion of workships sign administrature and treathers. Depart ment of Curriculum Development awolived.	has through Dispartment of Public Wel- face and local subsolid stricts		
Only feel at and feeder all funds		Pre-first grade medical dontal hutritions etc. services for children whitse families are at or nearing privility level.		
\$405,000 \$405,000 \$180 \$780 dapurippi atronito Department of Social Welfare to use as in atuhing funds for federal day care program)	No. r	State aid for hands asped pick hidergation Children's out Desartinent of Pubic Anstruction 1883 per pupil		
None	A program of early childhond edu- tation—ing promor d	Nore		
None	Ni isteta is iortito prominie is ekinderga tens	Note		



Table II - State Funding Effort (continued)

sum // //		1//	e de la companya de l	Stete Expenditure Kindergarten				
State	4. 34. 44	to Yat be	to Cuit	1548 1969	1969 1970	1968 1963	Fupit 1969 1970	
Louisiana	•	State aid on same basis as for grades 1.12. Teachers supplied on a 28.1 ratio	4.8		Not a	allable		
Vace	·	Aid as part of state foundation program	5 by Get 15		Kara	alable	\$166	
Maryland	M by 5*pl of 1973		5	\$3 a million	\$3.7 million	* 185	\$185	
V as sauhu setts	M by 1973	State aid provided as part of foundation program	48	\$18 8 million	\$22.0 million	\$298 These figures inci- kindergarten pro-	\$354 lude funds for pr grems	
Michigas	ŗ	State aid provide J as part of louridation program	5 by Dec. 1	≴46 3 million	\$49.3 million	\$251	\$272	
Min a		State and as part of foundation program	5 by Sept 1	\$ 6 752 763	\$6.897.780	\$108	\$172	
МіквіЕнррі		Legislation has been introduced in or rent legislatine person which would are use public school sinder german to be administed through Stars Department of Education Covers or a Committee on Children and Youth has supported legislation and stream ended for the continue on Children and Start of the Covers of th			ь.	jnę		
Makouri	,	Foundation program aid for kindergarter is based upon one half of the rotal days attended by kindergarten children	5	\$4 million	\$4.4 million	\$118	\$129	
Montena	,	No state aid provided is gislaron for public kinkergatiens was rejected by #2nd Legislatics. Assembly	5		·	pn#		
Nebrasia	,	State aid as part of foundation program trased on ADM	5 before Oct 15	\$454.048	\$ 454 547	\$17	\$17	



1968 1969 1969	Fer Pupil 1970 1968 1969 1969 19	70 on Prekindergartens	Pre First Graders (Madical Dental atc.)
	None	State prumption of workshops fo- administrators and teachers. Depart ment of Curriculum Development involved.	Yes, through Department of Public Wellia e and local school districts
	Nane	Attempt to pass early childhood education legislation	
	Nune	State Board of Education Research Task Force charged with ongoing development	Day care and nutrificial ischool lunchi
		Prekindergarten ald included in the entire kindergarten program	
	Mona	Share Bill and of Education for Minimores curve uses in selected may fation which would provide \$1.5 million in share funds to be matched by \$1.5 million in to all funds for pre-kindergetten programs.	inursing examination speech correction
	None	Department of Education proposed permissive legislation for four year olds	None
	.lose	None	Not e
	None	Grane Department of Ediciation encharages or all skit out districts	Children of families gualifying fur state welfars in ay relieve wither adultion at
		to provide prekindergarten programs willen lora? funds car ibeier i de akarlable	se vires
	Nore	to provide prekindergarten programs wiren local funds can be nillide	N ce



Table II -- State Funding Effort (continued)

Size Addition of the 1968 1969 Town						State Expenditure Kindergarten			
State	4.04	e The rea	to Chin	1968 1969	1969 1970	1968 1969	ادون ۹ 1969 1970		
vevada	Р	State aid provided through (o. tion program		6 of ele	mentary per pupil in	i guarar terri basi	C Subgrovi		
New Hampshire	P	State aid as part of four fation program to the districts who qualify	n Local option ich	\$230.595	\$284 908	\$312	\$375		
new Jersey	P	State aid as part if foundation program for 4, and 5 year old			Not Av	a righte			
New Mexico	None	Es sting kindergarten program NM ara fikderally funded for in or disadfundaged shifter on it stry dependants. The State Dement of Education has used its supplemental Honds for pite in program in readk areas. Hou Bill 34 passed House Education Committee in Fabruary would allow shift of states in the state of the states of t	rium nuli ronart some st se on 1 opere		No	ne.			
hen York	F	\$969, 1970, \$604 per child pyear for full day. \$302 per chil per year fur one haif day as par foundation program.	d by Sept 1	\$93 million		\$604	5604		
North Carolina	,	\$ ale funds now provided fir morfel del elopment programs two year passa. State hopes that get a seem of the provident for the provident f	on by Oct 16 be r ed as	\$500,000	\$500,000	\$900	1900		
North Dakote	None	A bift providing for state a # lo bindergarren talled in both the 1969 and 1971 legislative se sions	,		No	one.			
Dhic	•	State aid for kindergartans is pro- through state foundation prog- Legistation is being introduced current session of Garneral Assa- to lower computsory whool ago	arn by Sept 30 in or through embly early entrar	nce	Notac	ži lažije			
Ckishuma	•	State aid provided as part of foundation program is mount to n ADA	5 based by No 1	Nor e	\$2.2 million	Nore	\$ 66		
Oregon	,		6 by New 15 of amor entering grade 1		N ·	ang.			
Pannrylvan a	-,	School districts receive mimb ment for instruction from the partmant of Education at some for a indargation as for any un- grade level.	De citale	\$24 \$ million	\$26.9 - Non	\$300	\$337		
Puerto Ricr		State funding 307 kindergals	P^6 5	\$6 m Illion	\$6.0 million	\$300	\$242		



None Ine State Department of Education has developed in their master plan for each return program for early children education ages 3 to 5. None No state offur to promote presente same as for ages 4 and 5 year olds enoughed which was a series of five wide session for ages 4 and 5 year olds enoughed. None None None None None Family for ages 4 and 5 year olds enoughed which ended to age 4 and 5 year olds enoughed to age 4 and 5 yea	bic school
Not Als lable: \$100,000 supplemental lunds for year round Mead Staff. Money industament in reinstursement. Same as for all other put for against and 5 year olds encoded. Children in Andergarten. None Note Note Note Funds for Money. None State suppression of federally funded. Funds for a gards 5.	bic school
tom State of New Jersey for again 4 and 5 year olds engitled whither in Andergarten. None Note Note hand.	bic \$chool
None State super-isson of federally funded - Funds for d agricus 5	
None Discussion now taking place on 3 s Only through regular stall and 4 s but there are no immediate social services plans.	ste health god
hane hure hyre	
Nore Nire Nort	
None So were effort to promote presender: Number of all Syspon Junes pare jurgerans Organization (support public health clinic), such	n Medical derita
None Stars supervision of federals funded. Lunch services, himited i programs for disadventaged.	medical services
Note A disposol serly childhood education and these services are their formest exists shad in 1966 to term out. Deal meet of Heat are on all districts through consulted so that a side public state of gluedes and program in add on to text any public state of all of each office of the state of the conditional state of a side and the conditional state of a side and the conditional state of a side of the state of a side of the state of the side of th	th and Welfare Decarment of
None Cunh insues Cinned On one services	netical services



Table II - State Funding Effort (continued)

	+ constant	A BOOK AND	Land of the			pendaure rgarten	
State	+400 300 000	A B LAU LA BANK	age right		raf	Per I	pup#
				1968 1969	1969 1970	1968 1969	1969 197
Rhode Miard	M	State aid as part of foundation program	S before Dec 31	B/e;	aliduwn by Ind-vida	al grades not avail	atie
South Carolina	P	lot part of soundation program. Annual rounts to State Deportment for prior program. \$500,000 in both 1969, 15,70 and 1970. 1971.	5 on or let F No. 1	\$500,000	\$500,000	\$145	\$140
South Dipota	P	State aid under same minimum foundation grant as grades 1-12	5 by Nov 1		Internation	nut available	
Tennèsse	P	Funds do not permit fully supported praire program. Funds are used to finance limited Program in each school district of clate.	5 by Oct 31	\$350,000	\$95 000	\$280	\$290
Teras		State and provided in Sept. 1970 first to leducationally handicap ped.	5.5 by beginning of Khool year 57pr 1	None			_
Utah	P	State aid as part of foundation program trials now has kindle gatten program in all but two small rural districts.		Not as	ai'shle Aid noi tab	ulated according to	; qrøde
Se mant	,	State and funds provided as part of overall state and given school dix- tricts.		to specific amoun		ograma are adiled i	rta student pr
Virgin a	P	State aid as part of foundation provides	5	Information not available included with other grades			grades
Washington	r	State aid as part of foundation program	5	\$10.1 miller	\$9.7 million	\$184	\$185
West Virgin #	M b=1973	Public kindergettens initiated in 19 State expenditure for 1971-72 explicible \$1.5 million. State funds to be motived by fasteral fill ids insofer at possible.	ected		No	·••	· -
'A srposin	•	State funds as part of foundation program at rate of one half mam tership per thiutlet	5		%o #*	Sher	
Wyoming	•		S before Sapt 15	\$325 977	\$564.092	\$62	\$*09



7. 1958 1969	1969 19 C	kınderga 1 f		Pund 1969 1970	Additional Information on Prekindergarrens	Other State Supported Services to Pie Frist Gtailers (Medical Dental ejc.)
					Aid for prekinde garten on same basis as K-12	Whatevar is plent by local school committees for such services is reimbursable under state and formula.
		None			Noistate promotion	No state funds
		None			Guidelines for nursery schools adopted. Early objects to office discerningles information.	Receives same servicus as grades 1-12
		None			No state prekindergatten program.	Limited to those programs initiated and 's ipported in part or in full with federal funds.
		None			State gromotion, bilingual education and special education only	Only those provided by federal funds
		† une				None
Nine	\$115,000		V. e. +	'Apt evaluation	State and for pink index juiten is 12 - pricent local 12 it Jersenu / match Federic filte IV C. St. 3 Security Action & C. Program	Some pilot demonstration projects well to the and immunication purgrams
\$37.42"	\$657906		North as	a'a le	Stalle Occarisments of Edicarism Nealth Weefalls all transcribles kindergarres. Cotal scale and federal funds available.	Medical rare through for all health depart ments. Thental sleatment, but it tool consu- tation.
\$25 000	\$150,000		\$250	\$250	Special state funding for central city areas of which there are 12	Special funding for the disadventaged
		None			The Early Childhood Eduration Demonstration Centers opened in 1931. The state plan carly for 7 in gonal con a sit to be the children from 3 to \$ 2n importent component of the Certer's white component of the efforts of all agencies of inversignments to violate the centers the centers the centers the centers the centers the centers to violate the centers	25 per cent a aterbolights for day care with limited medical ero derital services. Nutritional services for day care.
						These costs are a part of general state
		Nort				aid formulae. Services are environaged and gall as are aids for off at a hoof services.



Table III - Program Administration and Personnel Development

Stele	Adni vistrati Kindergarten	ive Agency Prekindergerten	Form of Coordination Among Administrative Agencies	No of colleges with degree programs in early childhood education	Na of junor of communit colleges with associate degree program	No of collages with some work in ewit childhood education
Alabama	Stare Department of Education P is ite organizations	Department of Five sides and Services	Informati No person des ignated as coordinator	5	o	\$ fin addition to those with degree programs)
A' sh t	State Department of Education	State Department of Health and Win' fare. Head Starts are arpearate agencies with separate funding.	Formal Meetings called to plan lotal preschool program with BIA. De pariment of Mealth and Welfare. Head Start: De pariment of Education and universities.	•	1	2
Ame i an Samua	Program for 3, 4, and 1 istelled by the corr bini as one unit.		Not applicable		0 India service training to Eprofessional personie	
At yord	Local school dis 1-cts administer their programs	health gr Wellure	An early childhood asso cration meets regularly Current chairman is medi- cal doctor from State. Health Department	o	r	3
Arkgreat,	State Department of Education and a few to all school disturis	There are only pre- vale and parochial prekindergarten pro- grams	Informal State Weffare Department supervisors and licenses day care cen lers. State Health Depart ment prepares and retines minimizerance of health and sanital on standards.	3	1	9
Catifo nia	Administered by local school dis fricts. Del artmen of Education pro- des administrative si poort.	State Department of Education Division of Compensatory Education	4 C program: Joint landing with 39 community a son groups. Purchase of smile point all to between Welfare and Edurations.	6	54	ξI
Cotivano	Lincal district	Opportment of Soica Services and local district	Informal through 4. C. State Department of 50 crail Services where were and licenses des chericals and licenses des chericals and beam Highth Department oversee maintenance of heaf is standards. Early child hood consultant from Educar in Department on Go invarial a freenance Bourd.	7	2	7
Can'n shout	In a bhods of elviration many indi- ration many indi- pendent who us	Emia boards of education over 700 in dependent schools	Inforcial between pro- glams administres in the table of discalars and the folial sign is an administrative folial sign is and between state. Board of Education and other state Board of Education and other state agreement of extra the creation of the contract of extra the creation of a component of the state of the	7	1 (3) others pendingl	in and fine to



Table III — Program Administration and Personnel Development (continued)

	-			State Programs for Persumel Development			
State	Administratio Kindergaten	◆ Agency - ! tekindergarten	že mal Cuard + "-an Among Adm - vive Agenus s	No od colleges with deyler pluglems in anly chidmood acucalion	No of unior or community colleges with essociale degree programs	No of colleges with some victori early childhood whicetron	
Defamate	State Department of Education		Format informatiand advisors through 4 C at most dely contact with Office of Divid Development Early Childhood Education Sciences is in Day Care Advisory County	2	0	3	
5 inda	State igartment of Ecuration	None		4	6	8	
Georg a	Stare Department of Family and Chill dren Services	Share Depositment of Family and Chil dien Services	Advisory	9	7	17	
Guam	State Department of Education	State Decartment of Education	Not applicable	1	0	1	
Нам ў.	State Department of Education	Department of So coal Seleces	Spirital Department of Spirital Services, after or sithating, with the De- gartment of Health, Edu- ration, and fire marshall press ribes and publishes rules regulations and minimum standard. In gress hoofs, Administrated by Department of Soci- Services.	1	o	3	
edi bi	Proposi dilegi fation would prane kinder garters under kinde brards varific general supersition of Stale Dispariment of Enulation			No answer	Tip ar swe	No ar swer	
III-ro-s	State Department of Education	None		3	1	7 C	
Indiane	State 1 eg artmen of Equipation	fir state ejency administration with exception of day cale which is administered and ficer sed by state department of Welfare.	Parent Chink enative it own cits Methods tiCh with Councils Indiana As locial classifier for the Education of Young Chustern (Ad shore a diCould ration) and 4.0	•	O	·e	
lews.	State Dispartment f Education	Department of So call Melfare	inform e l	3	4	17	
Far sas	State Denastment of Education	State Department of Health, Rimate day tare centeral and nursery sufficing	Neon accens while	ngt available	Por availabil	ned avarīšti R	
Kerlucky	State Department of Education	State Department of Education	Nor t	0	2	,	
Lowers	State Dilpartifient of Education	State Department of Education State Department of Public Weffare	Epiinal State Depaitment of Education or Public Welfare	,		19	
V1-,	State Department of Education	Department of Health and Welfare for Day Care can late	Department of Mealth and Welfare advisory for Devicare Centers	1	O	5	



Table III — Program Administration and Personnel Development (continued)

No of jumor or community colleges with a sesociate degree programs No of colleges with degree programs in early childhood education Form of Coordination Among Administrative Agencies Administrative Agensy
Kindargaiten Prekinderga ten 1 State State Department of Education Department of Em-ployment and Social Services for Day Care Maryland State Department of Education 9 State Department of Education State Department of Education and Public Health De-partment Over 100 Over 250 Local boards Not applicable o State Department of Education Minnesota Department of Public Welfara Informatiand advisory 2 10 Mississipp 10 M-ssoun State Department of Education Local public Mhools Montana State Department of Education State Department of Education ٥ Netraska State Department of Education Welfare Department 0 6 State Department of Education Ospartment of Health Welfare and Rehabilitation ad minister nursery school and day care programs 0 New Hamp, Jira State Department of Education State Division of Welfare 2 o State Department of Education and Private Department of Community Affairs Bureau of Children's Sarvices State Department of Education Flow Jarsey Consultant service and compulsory approval 5 State colleges All State (pfleges State Department of Education CAP Prosts groups Department of Social Services Head Start Churches Informat and advisory More coordination is planned New York State Department of Education Aprilox marely 24 An State U sher arty Colleges Nursery - 6th grade 10 State Department of Education over sees pil01 programs operated by local administrative units North Carolina Social Service handles day care o 35 40 North Dakota Local danks None State requirements and laws must be met by local districts. No resource No response No response Dhia State Depenment of Public Merlara State Department of Education 29 Tuition and federal title programs State Department of Education Head Start - State DEO Office State Decartment of Education Agreement may be made between public school and local GEO agency for Head Start 19



Table III -- Program Administration and Personnel Development (continued)

State	. Administrati Kindetyarten	ve Agency Prekindergarten	Form of Coordination Among Administrative Agencies	No of colleges with dayres programs un eary childhood aducation	No of jumor or community colleges with essociate dayrea programs	No ni colleges with some work in waity chiedhood education
O:+yan	State Department of Education	State Department of Education	Informal and advisory	0	3	6
Pennsylvania	State Department of Education	Departments of Welfare Com- merce Eduration	A Governor sconmittee for child development and day care has been estab- lished as a linter agency approach to meeting the meets of various federal state and licial programs	6	8	21
Puerto Rico	The Office or Eco namic Opportunity and Private Institu- tions	Urban Renewal Program Social Services Depart ment	informal and advisory or request from Department of Education	٥	0	3
Rhode Island	State Department of Education	State Department of Education		4	С	4
South Carolina	State Department of Education	OEO and Head Start	None	•	1	12
South Dakota	State Department of Education	State Department of Education and Department of Pub- lic Wieffare for Day Care programs	Information day care and nursery	0	o	10
Tennéssed	State Department of Education	Department of Pub- lic Welfare and Size Office of Fro- nomic Opportunity	Formal and art visions. State Department of Education has represent a tive of State Day Carin. Advisory Committo State Day artiment of Public Welfare and represents tives on Governor's Interdepartmental Committee on Civil Development.	15	٥	Information not available
Texas	State Department of Education	State Department of Education for Special Educa- tion State Depart ment of Public Werlare for Day Care Centers	Governor's Council on Early Childhood Development	13	Not av prisble	13
Urah	State Department of Education	State Denoisment of Boura, in word in thidis. In general Media Starf I, grams Consultant service provided on request State Wiellare Department august see Day Cara Centers.	Informal advesting	5	o	5
Vermont	State Department of Education	Das Care Uniersong Unit: State OEO	Day Care III, ensing which includes any program at certing press housers has format tellar-constitutions and program and program ming with stars, doe at morts of education publics safety environmental control health and social welfairs.	1	0	8

Table III - Program Administration and Personnel Development (continued)

				State magrams for Parsanner Development			
State	Administrat Kindergarten	isê Agency Prekindergaiten	Form of Coordination Among Administrative Agencies	No of colleges with depre program in early childhood a fucation	No of junior to euthmunity colleges to in associate degree programs	No v. colleges valls some work at ealls childhard education	
Virginia	State Department of Education	Department of Well- fair and Institutions Department of Health	Informal Division of State Planning and Community Affairs	15	15	32	
Mashington	State Depai ment of Education	State Department of Education De partment of Public Assistance	infmaf	4	2	15	
Med Virginia	State Department of Education	State Department o. "ducation		10	c	1	
Water on sin	Local school dis 1778 and Fame hungublic schools	Local school dis- triers and some nonpublic schools	Nonpublic programs co- orginated by nonpriblic schools	,	0	0	
Veyoning	State Department of Education	State Welfare De partifiers licenses day care centers		o	0	University of Wyomings	

Table IV -- Certification Requirements and Administration

			Fertdesinon Ri	equirements Fo			
State	Day Care Personner	Kindergælen ia afhars and admensisators	Kindler, prien paraprofessorels	P shandary arten (machers and administrators	Prehindery peren	Agency Responsible by Could wan	Elementary Ceistricate Applicable for Rindergaten and or Prekindergatten Teaching
Arabama	in	No	No	40	No	No response	Yes, with endorsement of nursery and kindergarten
Alaska	No	tes	No	No	No	State Department of Education	Yes, ce tificate endorsed for early childhood
American Samua	No	No	Nu	No	No	Not applicable	No Early childhood training required
A- 204 B	No	7+5	No	No	† o	State Dispartment of Education	his Alignesent only certificate is issued.
Aharsas	No	Yes	* c	*11	N a	State Department of Education Certified kindergarten teachers	Yes, but courses in kinder garten and early childhood education are required in addition for the regular elementary serfilleste.
Call Gin a	N O	Tes	No	ħa	No	For day sein off sonnel and pile kindergarten fearly is and administ hedris, a children is in teripermitis required. It and kindergarten creden tia's a kinsued by Bulleu of Effure took and Featly in Certify arroin.) es

Table IV — Certification Requirements and Administration (continued)

		c	arthication A	lequirements For			
State	Der Cara Personnel	Kinderg wien teachers and administrators	Kindargarien Dalayofassonals	Pigkunderyster thashers ær 4 ælmerstrefots	Prekandung arten paraprofessonals	Agency Responsible for Certification	Elementery Certdicere Applicable for Kindergesten end Prekindergesten Teaching
Celorado	Licensing Require ments	Yes	No	4(2)	No	State Department of Education certifies kinderger ten teachers. State Department of Social Services determined day cere per sonnel qualifications for licensing purposes.	Yes
Connecticut	tes"	Yes'	No	Yes'	No	State Department of Education **Only if operated under Board of Education	Yes if so er dorsed by the preparing institution
Delaw are	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Day care is under Bureau of Child Day alopment i Division of Social Services. All other personnel are certified by TEPS Starte Department of Public Instruction.	No
Fiorida	No	Yes	No	No	No	State Department of Education	No
Georgia	No	tes		Yes		State Department of Ellucation *Criteria being dex 1 and d	No
Guam	No.	Yes	Yes	Admin Yes Teacher No		State Department of Education	Yes
. 1012	No	Yes	No	No	No	State Department of Education	Yes for kindergarten
Idaho	No	Yes	No	No	No	No enswer	No er swer
Dint s	No	Yes	No	No	No	State Teacher Certification Board Elementary School Certificate	Yes
Indiane	Ya•	Yes	No	No	No	Day care - State Department of Public Welfare, kindergart in teach are - State Department of Public Instruction	\es
IL M B	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Department of Public Instruction	Yes for kindergarten. No for prekindergenen
Kansas	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	State Department of Education	Yes
Kentucky	No	Yes	No	No	% 0	State Department of Education	Yes, but this regulation will be changed affective Sept. 1, 197
Louis #14	No	Yes	No	401	No	Stelle Department of Education	No
V ₂ re		t es		No	No	State Department of Education	Yes for kindergertan
Maryland	Yes	***	Yes	No	No	State Department of Education	Yes Certify alg in Early Childhood Education
Massachusetts	741	Yes	No	Yes	No	State Department of Education Public Health Department	Yus
Michigan	Yes	Yes Itsecheri onlyl	No	Yes Hearthers miyl	P _C C	State Department of Education Day care requirements handled things Department of Social Services. Pre kindergetten teacher requirements applicable only if the program is connected with a public school.	Yes
MinneRite	No	Yes	, ,	Yel	No	Department of Public Weifare II center nursely schools. Department of Education for Prekindergarten and kindargarian personnal.	No
V-11-15-PD-	40	Yes	No.	No	No	State Department of Education Cartilication	Yes
V secon	、 □	Yes	No	Yes	No	State Colleges and Universities	Yes
Monrana	\ 3	Yes	ħ o	741	No	State Superintendent of Public Instruction. Auplies to public kinder gartens and plakindernariens con ducted in public achools.	Yes
Netrasia	No	Y45	No	No	Na	State Department of Education	Yes for kindarger en

Table IV -- Certification Requirements and Administration (continued)

Certification Requirements For								
State	Day Care Passonnel	Kindergarter reachers and aymunistrators	Kindalgarten paraptolessionals	Prekinde/garten (eschers and administrators	Prekindergæten paraprolessonals	Agency Responsible for Certification	Elementary Certéceta Appicable for Kindargaeten and or Prekindergaeten Teaching	
Nevada	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	Disyloste personnel — Health Well- fairs and Rehabilitation Department Kindergarten teachers and adin his tratois – State Department of Education	Yes	
New Han Dishire	No	Yes	No	No	No	State Department of Education	Yes	
New Jersey	Yes	Yes	Ytı	Yes	Yes	State Department of Education	feursery school and kinder garten endorsement	
New Mexico	No enswer	No entwer	No Inswer	No & swer	No answer	No at swar	No answer	
New York	NO	Yes	No	Yes	No	State Education Department and cities of Bulfalo and New York	Yes	
North Caroline	No	Yes	No	No	No	State Department of Public Instruction	An Early Childhood Education Certificate is designed for teachers of the kindulgarten primary level	
North Dakota	No answer	No arswer	No enswer	No enswer	No enswer	State Department of Public Instruction	Yes, with at least two courses in kindergarten Jept	
Dhio	No	Yes	Permits for eides	No	No	State Department of Education	No must have a kindargerten primary cartificate	
Ok'ahuma	Na	Yes	No	Yes	No	Teacher aducation and cartification section of State Department of Education		
Oregon	No	Yes	No	146	No	Day oare - Stets Waffere Division Kinde garten and prekindergarten - State Department of Education	Yes	
Pennsylvenia	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	Departments of Education # 11 Well # #	Yes	
Puerto Rico	No	Yes	Nσ	No	Nn	Department of Education	Yes	
Rhoda (slend	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	State Department of Education	¥es	
South Carolina	N.	Teacher yes Admin ite	No	No	No	State Department of Education	Yes provided 12 temester hours earned diring the next 24 months following employment as ekindergenen teach at This givex Early Childhood Education Certificate	
South Dakota	No	61	No		No	Department of Public Instruction	Yes	
Tannessee	No	Y+1	No	No	No	State Board of Education	Yes with Auditionalish dors, ment in K.3	
Teras	No	Yer (Teachars only)	No	(Spe. et ed only)	No	Texas Education Agency	Yes kindergartan andorse mant	
Utah	No	Y+1	No	Recom mended	No	State Board of Education	Yes nursery through grade 3	
Vermont	No (in pro cess)	Yes	No	No lin pro cess!	No	Stele Dapa Iment of Education and Training Chiteges		
Yiegini∎	No	Yes	No	Na	4 0	State Department of Education Department has developed recommended guidalines for local districts for employment of para violessionals	Yes	
Washington	No	Yes	N.	No	No	Superintendent of Public Instruction	781	
West Yegose	700	701	No	Ka .	No	Welfars Department for dey care State Department of Education for kinder jarten and prekinder gertan	No	
Wisconsin	711	444	Y#4	TH .	Yes	Department of Priblic Instruction if a part of einchool district program Certify atom of teachers to homoublic school is oction to with the agency that operates them.		
M you sing	No	YES	No	No	No	Certification and Placement Division of State Department of Education	Yes with add tion of one course in education with emphasis on kindergarten traching	

ecs steering committee 1970-71

Chanman

EX

*Governor Russell W. Peterson, Delaware

The Charman

*William J. L. Wallace, Fresident, West Virginia State College

Ireasure

*John E. Gray, Chairman, First Security National Bank, Beaumont, Texas

Ucmher

Governo Kenneth M. Curtis, Maine Governor Luis A. Ferre, Puerto R co *Governor Tom McCall, Oregon Governor Walter Peterson, New Hampshire Governor Calvin L. Rampton, Utah Governor Robert W. Scott, North Carolina Representative Darvin Allen, Kentucky *Senator Bryce Baggett, Oklahoma Senator Clarence E. Bell, Arkansas Representative Charles W. Clabaugh, Illinois Senator Oakley C. Collins, Ohio *Representative D. Robert Graham, Florida Representative Max H. Homer, Pennsylvania Senator Richard D. Marvel, Nebraska Denny G. Breaid, Association of Alaska School Boards Cyril B. Busbee, State Superintendent of Education, South Carolina Wilson H. Elkins, President, University of Mary'and Mrs. Jerome Freiberg, & stile, Washington *Warren G. Hill, Chancellor of Higher Education, Connecticut Richard H. Kosaki, Vice President, University of Hawaii William P. Robinson, Jr., State Commissioner of Education, Rhede Island Lyman Rowell, President Emeritus, University of Vermont *Father Albert A. Schneider, Superintendent of Schools, Archdiocese of Stanta Fe, New Mexico James E. Stratten, Member of the Board, California Department of Youth Authority Frederick Thieme, President, University of Colorado *Richard D. Wells, Indiana Robert F. Williams, Executive Secretary, Virginia Education Association

Advisory Members

Governor William Cabill, New Jersey Representative Ernest Allen, Idaho Senator Halbert Harvill, Tennessee Holger Rasmusen, Wisconsin Representative Peter Turnham, Alabama ate Superintendent of Education, Louiziana ve Secretary, Missouri Teachers Association

William J. Dodd, State Superintendent of Education, Louisiana Everett Keith, Executive Secretary, Missouri Teachers Association M. F. Peterson, State Superintendent of Public Instruction, North Dakota Neil V. Sullivan, State Commissioner of Education, Massachusetts Lawrence Wanlass, President, College of the Virgin Islands

^{*2.} securive Committee